

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com





Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1768 (2007) 923-940

Review

Lysophospholipid receptors: Signalling, pharmacology and regulation by lysophospholipid metabolism

Dagmar Meyer zu Heringdorf*, Karl H. Jakobs

Institut für Pharmakologie Universitätsklinikum Essen, Hufelandstrasse 55, 45122 Essen, Germany

Received 4 August 2006; accepted 28 September 2006 Available online 4 October 2006

Abstract

The lysophospholipids, sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P), lysophosphatidic acid (LPA), sphingosylphosphorylcholine (SPC) and lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC), activate diverse groups of G-protein-coupled receptors that are widely expressed and regulate decisive cellular functions. Receptors of the endothelial differentiation gene family are activated by S1P (S1P₁₋₅) or LPA (LPA₁₋₃); two more distantly related receptors are activated by LPA (LPA_{4/5}); the GPR_{3/6/12} receptors have a high constitutive activity but are further activated by S1P and/or SPC; and receptors of the OGR1 cluster (OGR1, GPR4, G2A, TDAG8) appear to be activated by SPC, LPC, psychosine and/or protons. G-protein-coupled lysophospholipid receptors regulate cellular Ca²⁺ homoeostasis and the cytoskeleton, proliferation and survival, migration and adhesion. They have been implicated in development, regulation of the cardiovascular, immune and nervous systems, inflammation, arteriosclerosis and cancer. The availability of S1P and LPA at their G-protein-coupled receptors is regulated by enzymes that generate or metabolize these lysophospholipids, and localization plays an important role in this process. Besides FTY720, which is phosphorylated by sphingosine kinase-2 and then acts on four of the five S1P receptors of the endothelial differentiation gene family, other compounds have been identified that interact with more ore less selectivity with lysophospholipid receptors.

© 2006 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: G-protein-coupled receptor; Lysophospholipid; Sphingosine-1-phosphate; Lysophosphatidic acid; Sphingosine kinase; Autotaxin

Contents

1.	Introduction.					
2. Established and controversial lysophospholipid receptors and their signalling pathways						
	2.1.	S1P- and LPA-GPCRs of the endothelial differentiation gene family	924			
	2.2.	GPR3, GPR6, GPR12	926			
	2.3.	LPA ₄ and LPA ₅	927			
	2.4.	Lysophospholipid- and proton-regulated GPCRs	927			
	2.5.	Interaction of LPA with peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ	928			
3.	Regul	ation of lysophospholipid availability at lysophospholipid receptors	929			
	3.1.	S1P metabolism: kinases, phosphatases, lyase	929			
	3.2.	Role of SphK1 in generating extracellular S1P: signalling inside-out.	930			

Abbreviations: $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, intracellular free Ca^{2+} concentration; DGPP 8:0, dioctanoylglycerol pyrophosphate; EDG, endothelial differentiation gene; ERK, extracellular signal-regulated kinase; FAP, fatty alcohol phosphate; GPCR, G-protein-coupled receptor; LPA, lysophosphatidic acid; LPC, lysophosphatidylcholine; LPP, lipid phosphate phosphatase; NGF, nerve growth factor; PDGF, platelet-derived growth factor; PLA, phospholipase A; PLC, phospholipase C; PLD, phospholipase D; PPAR γ , peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ ; PTX, pertussis toxin; S1P, sphingosine-1-phosphate; SPC, sphingosylphosphoryl choline; SPP, sphingosine-1-phosphate phosphatase; THI, 2-acetyl-4-tetrahydroxybutylimidazole

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +49 201 723 3465; fax: +49 201 723 5968.

E-mail address: meyer-heringdorf@uni-essen.de (D. Meyer zu Heringdorf).

	3.3.	Role of S1P lyase in controlling extracellular S1P gradients							
	3.4.	LPA metabolism: diverse pathways							
	3.5.	Production of extracellular LPA by autotaxin							
4.	Emerging lysophospholipid pharmacology								
5.	Concl	luding remarks							
Acknowledgements									
References									

1. Introduction

Ligands at G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCR) are structurally as diverse as biogenic amines, amino acids, nucleotides, photons, peptides, glycoproteins, odorants, ions, and lipids (see historic review by [1]). Many classes of lipid mediators are now recognized to act as agonists at GPCRs, among them the cyclooxygenase and lipoxygenase products of arachidonic acid, the cannabinoids, platelet-activating factor, and the lysophospholipids (for overview and nomenclature, see [2,3]). Lysophospholipid mediators can have a glycerol or sphingoid backbone and are characterized by having a single carbon chain and a polar headgroup. These structural features render them more hydrophilic and versatile than their corresponding phospholipids. Among several lysophospholipids for which a biological action has been demonstrated, lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) and sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) have been characterized in greatest detail so far. The last decade has seen an enormous increase in knowledge about lysophospholipid receptors and metabolism, as well as biological functions of S1P and LPA. A family of five S1P-GPCRs and three related LPA-GPCRs (for review, see [4-8]), three not related GPCRs with high constitutive activity that are nevertheless further activated by S1P and sphingosylphosphorylcholine (SPC) [9], and two more LPA-GPCRs [10,11] have been identified so far. Furthermore, a group of GPCRs that are differentially activated by protons and by the lysophospholipids, SPC, lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC) and psychosine have been described (reviewed in [12-14]). It cannot be excluded that there might be other lysophospholipid receptors among the remaining ~ 150 orphan GPCRs of the human genome.

Lysophospholipid GPCRs are widely expressed and it has been suggested that all cells in mammals respond in one way or another to LPA and S1P [5]. Lysophospholipid GPCRs regulate a broad range of cellular functions: cell proliferation and survival, migration and chemotaxis, cytoskeletal architecture, cell-cell-contacts and adhesion, Ca^{2+} homoeostasis and Ca^{2+} -dependent functions. This results in a particular impact of lysophospholipids on angiogenesis and lymphocyte trafficking, development of the nervous system, cancer growth and metastasis, as well as inflammation and arteriosclerosis [6,15–18].

Understandably, lysophospholipid GPCRs are promising pharmacological targets [19,20]. The first drug interacting with S1P-GPCRs, FTY720 [21], also named fingolimod, is undergoing clinical trials for prevention of kidney graft rejection and multiple sclerosis. Other, receptor subtypeselective drugs for S1P- and LPA-GPCRs are emerging, increasing the potential medicinal importance of this research field.

This review will provide a general overview on established and still controversial lysophospholipid GPCRs, their signal transduction pathways, cellular and biological actions, with a focus on recent findings. Furthermore, our understanding of how S1P and LPA are delivered to their respective receptors, and how their action is terminated, has been substantially increased and is reviewed here in detail. Finally, the emerging lysophospholipid pharmacology will be presented and discussed. We apologize that important work will not be mentioned here because of space limitations.

2. Established and controversial lysophospholipid receptors and their signalling pathways

2.1. S1P- and LPA-GPCRs of the endothelial differentiation gene family

In 1996, a GPCR, named ventricular zone gene-1, that was expressed in cortical neurogenic regions of the developing mouse brain, was identified and shown to be a LPA receptor [22]. Soon thereafter, a related orphan GPCR, discovered in 1990 as a transcript induced during differentiation of endothelial cells and named endothelial differentiation gene-1 (EDG-1) [23], was shown to be activated by S1P [24–26]. These groundbreaking discoveries led to rapid deorphanization of altogether eight homologous GPCRs, five activated by S1P and three activated by LPA, of the so-called EDG receptor family that had been named after EDG-1. These GPCRs are now named according to IUPHAR nomenclature after their main physiological ligand and numbered in the order of discovery [2].

S1P₁₋₃ and LPA₁₋₃ are ubiquitously expressed. There are comprehensive recent reviews on these receptors available [4– 6,8,20,27–29]. Therefore, signalling of S1P₁₋₃ and LPA₁₋₃ is summarized here only in brief, see also Table 1. The S1P₁ receptor is unique because it is apparently coupled only to G_i proteins, by which it nevertheless regulates many cellular functions, e.g., extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) activation and proliferation, Akt activation and survival, and, most important, Rac activation and migration. Crucial functions of S1P₁ such as stimulation of angiogenesis and lymphocyte trafficking are apparently based on its ability to stimulate migration [30,31]. S1P₂ is coupled to G_i, G_q and G_{12/13} proteins and activates phospholipase C (PLC), mediates increases in intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration ([Ca²⁺]_i) and stimulates ERK.

Table 1 G-protein-coupled lysophospholipid receptors

Receptor	Endogenous ligand(s) and activators	Main tissue distribution	Main signal transduction pathways and cellular effects			Ref.
S1P ₁	S1P, dihydro-S1P >SPC	Ubiquitous	G _{i/o}	ERK↑, PI3K/Akt↑, Rac↑, AC↓	Migration, proliferation, survival, cell-cell-contacts, angiogenesis, lymphocyte trafficking	Reviews: [4–6,8,20, 27–29]
S1P ₂		Ubiquitous	$\begin{array}{l} G_{i/o},G_{q},\\ G_{12/13} \end{array}$	PLC \uparrow , $[Ca^{2+}]_i\uparrow$, ERK \uparrow , Rho \uparrow , Rac \downarrow , Cdc42	Migration ↓, contribution to vascular development, differentiation of SMC	-
S1P ₃		Ubiquitous	$G_{i/o}, G_q, \\ G_{12/13}$	PLC↑, [Ca ²⁺] _i ↑, Rho↑, Rac↑, ERK↑, Akt↑	Heart rate ↓, contribution to vascular development, NO-dependent vasorelaxation	
S1P ₄	Phyto-S1P, dihydro-S1P >S1P>SPC	Lymphoid and haematopoietic tissue	$G_{i/o}, G_{12/13}$	PLC \uparrow , [Ca ²⁺] _i \uparrow , ERK \uparrow , Rho $\uparrow\downarrow$, Cdc42 \uparrow	Migration ↑↓, proliferation and cvtokine secretion in T cell lines ↓	[44,47,48]
S1P5	S1P, dihydro-S1P	Brain, white matter tracts, oligodendrocytes; skin	G _{i/o} , G _{12/13}	AC↓, ERK↓, JNK↑	Proliferation ↓,cell rounding, process retraction in OPC, survival of mature ODC	[53,56,57]
LPA ₁	LPA	Ubiquitous	$G_{i/o}, G_q, G_{12/13}$	$AC\downarrow$, $ERK\uparrow$, $Akt\uparrow$, $Rho\uparrow$, $Rac\uparrow$, $PLC\uparrow$, $[Ca^{2+}]_i\uparrow$	Proliferation ↑, survival ↑ (e.g. of Schwann cells), neurite retraction, brain development, olfaction	Reviews: [4–6,8,27, 226]
LPA ₂	LPA	Ubiquitous	$G_{i/o}, G_q, G_{12/13}$	Rho \uparrow , PLC \uparrow , [Ca ²⁺] _i \uparrow , ERK \uparrow , Akt \uparrow , AC	Proliferation, survival	-
LPA ₃	LPA; preference for unsaturated acyl chains	Ubiquitous	$G_{i/o}, G_q$	PLC ^{\uparrow} , $[Ca^{2+}]_i\uparrow$, ERK ^{\uparrow} , AC ^{\uparrow} \downarrow	Implantation (via COX-2) and embryo spacing in mice	
P2Y ₉ /GPR23 (LPA ₄)	LPA	Low level in many tissues, high levels in ovary		AC \uparrow , [Ca ²⁺] _i \uparrow		[10]
GPR63 (LPA ₅)	LPA	Low level in many tissues, high levels in small intestine and DRG	$G_q, G_{12/13}$	AC \uparrow , [Ca ²⁺] _i \uparrow	Stress fibre formation, neurite retraction	[11]
GPR3	Const. activity, S1P	Rodent oocytes, diverse EC and VSMC	$G_s, G_{i/o}$	AC \uparrow , [Ca ²⁺] _i \uparrow	Meiotic arrest of rodent oocytes	[9,60–64]
GPR6	Const. activity, S1P	Mouse brain, diverse EC and VSMC	$G_{s},G_{i/o}$	AC \uparrow , [Ca ²⁺] _i \uparrow		
GPR12	Const. activity, S1P or SPC	Mouse brain, diverse EC and VSMC, rodent oocvtes	G _s , G _{i/o}	AC↑, [Ca ²⁺] _i ↑	Increase in synaptic contacts in rat cortical neurons, meiotic arrest of rodent oocytes	
OGR1	SPC, proton	Widely; e.g. bone	$G_{i \mbox{\scriptsize o}}$, other	L: $[Ca^{2+}]_i\uparrow$, ERK \uparrow P: IP \uparrow , AC \uparrow	Inhibition of proliferation, osteoclastogenesis	Reviews: [13,14]
GPR4	SPC, LPC, proton	Widely; e.g., endothelial cells; overexpressed in cancer cells	$G_{i/o}$, other	L: $[Ca^{2+}]_i\uparrow$, ERK \uparrow C: ERK \downarrow P: AC \uparrow	Migration, angiogenesis, impairment of endothelial barrier function	Articles: [80,82–89, 91,227]
G2A	LPC, SPC, proton (?)	Lymphoid tissues, lymphocytes, macrophages	$\begin{array}{l} G_{i/o},G_q,\\ G_s,G_{13} \end{array}$	L: $[Ca^{2+}]_{i\uparrow}$, ERK \uparrow C: IP \uparrow , AC \uparrow , Rho \uparrow , stress fibre formation \uparrow P: IP \uparrow (?)	Migration, apoptosis, suppression of autoimmunity	
TDAG8	Psychosine, gluco-psychosine, lysosulfatide, proton	Lymphoid tissues, T cells; overexpressed in cancer cells	$G_{i/o}$, other	L: [Ca ²⁺] _i ↑, AC↓ P: AC↑, Rho↑, stress fibre formation ↑	Formation of multinuclear cells (?), apoptosis	

Abbreviations used in the table: AC, adenylyl cyclase; C, constitutive signalling by transfected receptors; const. activity, constitutive activity; COX, cyclooxygenase; IP, inositol phosphates; L, activities induced by lipid ligand; ODC, oligodendrocytes; OPC, oligodendrocyte precursors; P, activities induced by protons; SMC, smooth muscle cells. For further references, see text.

Interestingly, S1P₂ strongly activates Rho and inhibits Rac, thereby promoting cellular stress fibre formation and inhibiting migration of many cell types, including melanoma cells [32,33]. Similar to S1P₂, S1P₃ is coupled to G_i, G_q and G_{12/13} proteins. This receptor strongly activates PLC and induces $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ increases, ERK, Rho and Rac activation. S1P₃, via $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ increases and Akt stimulation, induces NO synthase activation and vasorelaxation [34]. S1P₃ furthermore via G_i activates Gprotein-regulated inward rectifier potassium channels, thereby slowing the heart rate [35-37]. Looking at signalling by S1P-GPCRs in general, there appears to be redundancy as well as functional antagonism (see discussion in [29]). Redundancy probably prevents major symptoms in mice in which either S1P₂ or S1P₃ has been deleted [38,39]. Functional antagonism is observed for example with S1P₁ and S1P₂, which strongly stimulate or inhibit cell migration, respectively (reviewed in [16]), or with S1P₅ and the other S1P-GPCRs, because S1P₅ uniquely inhibits ERK and cell proliferation.

The LPA-GPCRs, LPA₁, LPA₂ and LPA₃, are similarly able to couple via G_i, G_g and G_{12/13} proteins to many signalling pathways [17]. These receptors stimulate PLC and induce $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ increases, activate Ras and ERK and stimulate proliferation, and via Akt promote cell survival. LPA-GPCRs have furthermore a strong impact on cytoskeleton and migration by coupling to both Rho and Rac. In heterologous expression systems, GPCRs might be able to couple to pathways which are not preferred by endogenous receptors. Considering knockout approaches, it was suggested that the main, but not only, signalling pathways of endogenous LPA-GPCR might be the following: LPA₁, G_i-dependent signalling; LPA₂, G₁₂/Rhoregulated cytoskeleton rearrangements and cell rounding; LPA₃, G_{q} -mediated PLC activation and $[Ca^{2+}]_{i}$ increases [27]. Further studies are needed for assigning endogenous LPA receptor subtypes to specific signal transduction pathways.

Much less is known about the S1P₄ and S1P₅ receptors. S1P4 was isolated from dendritic cells and is expressed in lymphoid and haematopoietic cells and tissues [40]. This receptor differs from the other S1P-GPCRs of the EDG family with respect to its binding pocket [41]. This is reflected by a higher affinity for phyto-S1P and dihydro-S1P than S1P [42,43]. S1P₄ couples to G_i and G_{12/13} proteins, but not to G_q and $G_{15/16}$, at least as tested with a GTP photoaffinity label [44]. S1P4 via Gi stimulated ERK, PLC and $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ increases [45,46]. It activated Rho and rearranged the cytoskeleton in one study [44], while it did not activate Rho or Rac in another study, but stimulated Cdc42 and cell migration [47], both studies in transfected CHO cells. These inconsistencies could probably be due to problems in trafficking of overexpressed S1P4 to the plasma membrane [47]. When transfected into T cell lines devoid of endogenous S1P-GPCRs, S1P₄ had no influence on migration and chemotaxis, but inhibited cell growth and secretion of proinflammatory cytokines [48]. Interestingly, FTY720, which caused internalization of S1P₁, did not internalize S1P₄ [49], although phosphorylated FTY720 activates both receptors [50,51].

S1P5 was originally cloned from PC12 cells, where its mRNA was downregulated by nerve growth factor (NGF) [52]. S1P₅ expressed in CHO cells activated $G\alpha_{i/o}$ and $G\alpha_{12}$ proteins, but not $G\alpha_s$ or $G\alpha_a$, as shown by GTP γ S binding to immunoprecipitated G-proteins [53]. S1P₅ furthermore mediated inhibition of adenylyl cyclase [53,54], and interestingly had a negative impact on ERK and cell growth, whereas it activated JNK [53]. Neither activation of PLC nor increases in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ were observed with S1P₅ [53]. Overexpressed S1P₅ inhibited ERK and induced cell rounding even in the absence of exogenous S1P, indicating constitutive activity [55]. In situ hybridization studies and histochemical analysis with a specific antibody revealed its abundant expression in white matter tracts of rodent brain [54,56,57]. The S1P₅ antibody and mRNA probes specifically stained all developmental stages of oligodendrocytes [56,57]. In differentiated oligodendrocytes which predominantly express the two lysophospholipid receptors, LPA1 and S1P5, both LPA and S1P induced activation of ERK in a pertussis toxin (PTX)-

insensitive manner [58], indicating that signalling by endogenous $S1P_5$ in its natural environment might be different from that observed with the transfected receptor. Furthermore, $S1P_5$ via Rho kinase mediated process retraction in pre-oligodendrocytes but not in mature oligodendrocytes, while $S1P_5$ via G_i and Akt enhanced survival of mature oligodendrocytes but not of pre-oligodendrocytes [57]. These results suggest that the functional role of the receptor is dependent on the cellular differentiation status, and that $S1P_5$ plays a role in brain myelinization. However, mice in which $S1P_5$ was genetically deleted had no apparent behavioural deficits, and their neuropathological examination did not reveal an apparent myelin deficiency [57].

2.2. GPR3, GPR6, GPR12

These GPCRs form a cluster with high similarity to each other and $\sim 40\%$ similarity to EDG, cannabinoid and melatonin receptors [59]. Heterologous expression of GPR3, GPR6 and GPR12 led to strong activation of adenylyl cyclase in the absence of exogenous ligand. However, members of this GPCR cluster were also shown to respond to S1P and/or SPC [9,60-62]. Transfection of human GPR3, GPR6 and GPR12 enhanced S1P-stimulated [Ca2+]i increases in HEK-293 cells; these responses were caused by nanomolar S1P and fully inhibited by PTX. S1P furthermore induced internalization of GPR6 [9]. Other authors expressed mouse GPR12 with a signal peptide for improved membrane insertion, and observed that it enhanced the background $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ increases induced by SPC with an EC₅₀ of 66 nM, while S1P was clearly less potent [60]. Mouse GPR6, however, responded preferentially to S1P like the human receptor [61]. Furthermore, both GPR6 and GPR12 via Gi mediated activation of G-protein-gated inwardly rectifying K⁺ currents in transfected Xenopus oocytes by S1P and SPC, respectively, and GPR6 mediated ERK activation by S1P [60,61]. GPR6 and GPR12 are strongly expressed in mouse brain. GPR12 mRNA transcripts were detected in all areas of the developing mouse central nervous system, especially the cerebral cortex, and expression of this receptor was upregulated at the stage in which neurons start to migrate and differentiate. Other than LPA₁, GPR12 is apparently not expressed in the ventricular zone where proliferation of neuronal precursors takes place. In adult mouse brain, GPR12 was predominantly detected in the forebrain region where major constituents of the limbic system, e.g., hippocampus, were labelled [60]. A functional analysis of endogenously expressed GPR12 was performed in the hippocampal cell line HT22 and in embryonic cerebral cortical neurons, both of which do not express the highaffinity SPC-GPCRs, GPR4 and OGR1. SPC stimulated proliferation and cell clustering of the hippocampal cells, and increased synaptic contacts and synaptophysin expression in the embryonic cortical neurons [60].

There are also reports showing that GPR3, GPR6 and GPR12 play important roles outside the nervous system. For example, all three receptors are abundantly expressed in diverse endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells, and fluid shear

stress upregulated GPR3 and GPR12 proteins in human umbilical vein endothelial cells [62]. Interestingly, GPR3 and GPR12 are highly expressed in mouse oocvtes, but not in the surrounding somatic cells, and these receptors mediate a signal that maintains the oocytes in meiotic arrest [63,64]. Mammalian oocytes stay in prophase arrest until ovulation is triggered by luteotropin. This depends on an unknown signal from the surrounding somatic cells, since removal of oocytes from antral follicles resumes meiosis. Furthermore, various lines of evidence show that high cAMP levels are essential for meiotic arrest (for review, see [65]). Spontaneous oocyte maturation in vitro was inhibited by injection of GPR3 and GPR12 mRNA, while antisense oligonucleotides caused meiotic resumption [64]. Furthermore, oocytes from GPR3 knockout mice spontaneously resume meiosis within antral follicles in vivo, independently of an increase in luteotropin, and this phenotype was reversed by injection of GPR3 mRNA into the oocytes [63]. Unexpectedly, GPR3-deficient mice were fertile, but they displayed progressive reduction in litter size, indicating premature ovarian failure due to early oocyte aging [66]. These data support previous findings, namely that oocyte loss in adult female mice induced by radiation was completely prevented by in vivo therapy with S1P [67,68]. Finally, a role for lipid ligands in meiotic arrest was shown by demonstrating that in vitro maturation of oocytes was delayed by SPC and S1P [64].

2.3. LPA₄ and LPA₅

In 2003, a novel LPA-GPCR, P2Y₉/GPR23, now named LPA₄, was detected that was structurally distant from LPA receptors of the EDG family [10]. Very recently, it was demonstrated that the orphan GPR92 is activated by LPA, and it was named LPA₅ [11]. These two receptors, LPA₄ and LPA₅, have $\sim 35\%$ amino acid identity with each other and are thus more related to each other than to the LPA-EDG receptors. LPA₄ shares only 20-24% amino acids with LPA₁, LPA₂ and LPA₃, which share 50-57% of their amino acids [6,10]. When transfected into no- or low-background cells, LPA₄ preferentially bound 1-oleoyl-LPA with a K_D of ~ 50 nM, and this LPA species also preferentially activated a reporter gene in LPA₄ expressing cells, while LPA species with saturated or shorter acyl chains were less affine and active, and other lysophospholipids did not compete with LPA binding. Functionally, the receptor mediated increases in cAMP and $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ [10]. The GPR92/LPA5 receptor mediated stress fibre formation in RH7777 rat hepatoma cells, neurite retraction via $G\alpha_{12}$, $G\alpha_{13}$ and Rho kinase in B193 neuroblastoma cells, and furthermore stimulated increases in cAMP and, via $G\alpha_q$, elevated $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ [11]. Although both LPA₄ and LPA₅ elevated cAMP levels, their coupling to G_s proteins remains to be proven. LPA₅ was internalized by LPA but not by S1P, however, its precise ligand specificity remains to be determined. Low levels of mRNA transcripts of both LPA₄ and LPA₅ are abundantly expressed; high levels of LPA₄ were found in ovary, while LPA₅ was strongly expressed in small intestine, spleen, dorsal root ganglion cells and embryonic stem cells [10,11]. It is tempting to speculate that these two receptors allow the lysophospholipid LPA to couple to G_s pathways which are not among the preferred signalling pathways of LPA-EDG receptors.

2.4. Lysophospholipid- and proton-regulated GPCRs

Many cells respond in diverse ways to SPC, LPC, psychosine and glucopsychosine, and GPCR-dependent as well as GPCR-independent signalling of these lipids has been suggested. OGR1, GPR4, G2A and TDAG8 form a cluster of homologous GPCRs that are candidate high-affinity receptors for SPC (OGR1, GPR4, G2A), LPC (GPR4, G2A) and psychosine (TDAG8). Shortly after their first description as lipid receptors [69–72], crucial binding data could apparently not be reproduced, thus leading to the retraction of papers concerning GPR4 and G2A [73,74]. A major proof for SPC as a ligand at OGR1 and GPR4 had been the observations that transfection of these receptors enabled SPC to induce $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ increases in otherwise non-responsive cells, and that SPC caused internalization of plasma membrane localized ORG1and GPR4-GFP fusion proteins [69,70]. However, other authors did not observe internalization of GPR4 upon stimulation with SPC, although internalization of OGR1 by SPC was confirmed [75]. Transfected GPR4 was furthermore shown to be constitutively active, inhibiting ERK in a ligand-independent manner [75]. Interestingly, in 2003, OGR1 and GPR4 were described as proton-sensing receptors [76]. Expression of these receptors rendered otherwise non-responsive cells sensitive to acidification, with protons stimulating inositol phosphate production and cAMP accumulation in OGR1- and GPR4transfected cells, respectively. The receptors were inactive or only slightly active at pH 7.6 to 7.8, and strongly activated at pH 7.2 to 7.0. By homology modelling with rhodopsin and mutational analysis, five histidine residues were identified that were conserved in ORG1 and GPR4 and required for proton sensing [76]. It was suggested that hydrogen bonding between histidines stabilizes the receptors in the inactive state, while protonation elicits the conformational change into the active state [76]. Interestingly, proton-induced inositol phosphate accumulation in OGR1-expressing cells was insensitive to PTX, while [Ca²⁺]; increases in response to SPC were PTXsensitive [69], suggesting that differential G-protein coupling could be caused by the two activation mechanisms. Later, proton sensing was not only confirmed for OGR1 [77], but also shown for G2A [78] and TDAG8 [79]. Acidification induced internalization of TDAG8 and stimulated Rho and actin rearrangement [80]. Comparing the proton sensitivity of the receptors of the OGR1 cluster, it appeared that G2A was not as sensitive as OGR1, GPR4, and TDAG8 [81], which could be due to lack of critical histidines [13,14]. Most importantly, the putative lipid agonists failed to activate the GPCRs of the OGR1 cluster in these studies. In contrast, proton-induced signalling was inhibited by SPC [77], LPC [78] and psychosine [79]. For this effect, at least 1 μ M of LPC was required to inhibit proton sensing of G2A, whereas 10 µM were required for clear inhibition at OGR1 and TDAG8. Psychosine did not activate TDAG8 or one of the other receptors, but 10 µM psychosine

caused a rightward shift of pH-dependent signalling effects of TDAG8, OGR1 and GPR4 [79]. To explain the diverse effects of protons and lipids at GPCRs of the ORG1 cluster, a model was proposed in which the receptors have two regulatory sites, one for protons and the other for lipids. The lipids were suggested to interact with both sites, as agonist and antagonist, respectively [13,14]. However, this model does not explain why the putative lipid agonists were sometimes able and sometimes not to activate GPCRs of the OGR1 cluster. Furthermore, it remains unclear whether the inhibitory action of lipids on proton signalling was mediated at all by the GPCRs of question.

The reported controversy could be due at least in part to artificial coupling of overexpressed receptors, incomplete plasma membrane insertion of transfected receptors, GPCR heterodimerization, or artificial cellular backgrounds (see also discussion in [59]). These difficulties are circumvented when endogenously expressed receptors are studied in their natural environment. Such studies indeed suggest a role for lipids in signalling by GPCRs of the OGR1 cluster. For example, GPR4, but not OGR1, G2A or TDAG8, was found to be expressed in diverse endothelial cells, and siRNA knockdown of GPR4 abrogated endothelial tube formation by SPC, but not by S1P or vascular endothelial growth factor [82]. GPR4 was also required for SPC-stimulated migration of endothelial cells. Interestingly, while GPR4-transfected HEK-293 cells responded to pH 7.0 with increase in cAMP, this effect was not observed in endothelial cells, even if GPR4 was additionally transfected [82]. Another group showed that siRNA knockdown of GPR4 in endothelial cells inhibited LPC-stimulated decrease in monolayer resistance, while pH < 7.4 did not alter baseline or LPC-stimulated resistances [83]. On the other hand, OGR1 and GPR4 were found to be expressed in human aortic smooth muscle cells, in which acidic pH induced inositol phosphate production, cAMP formation and prostaglandin I₂ secretion. These effects were inhibited by OGR1-siRNA, but not by GPR4-siRNA [84]. While these data demonstrate a role for endogenous OGR1 in proton sensing, it has to be noted that at least pH 6.8 was required for clear effects, while maximal stimulation required pH 6.4–6.0. The pH dependence of inositol phosphate production by endogenous OGR1 in smooth muscle cells was highly different from that reported by Ludwig et al., which was biphasic with a maximum at pH 7.0. The reported acidic conditions that were required raise the question whether physiological proton sensing might take place by internalized receptors in endosomes, especially in the light of confocal data showing a remarkable amount of receptors in intracellular compartments [76,81,85]. Accordingly, G2A overexpressed in T cells or in Swiss 3T3 cells was strongly retained in endosomes, and LPC specifically induced transport of this GPCR to the plasma membrane [85]. Furthermore, the recycling blocker, monensin, blocked LPC-stimulated G2A translocation, migration and ERK activation, raising the questions whether LPC acted as an antagonist, stabilizing the plasma membrane localization, or as an agonist, signalling through membrane G2A, and what was the signal for translocation in the latter case.

Another study with endogenous OGR1 demonstrated that this receptor was strongly induced during differentiation of bone marrow mononuclear cells into osteoclasts, and that inhibition of OGR1 by antibody or siRNA attenuated osteoclastogenesis [86]. A possible role of auto- or paracrine lysophospholipids, however, was not investigated. Endogenous G2A receptor was studied in a T cell line and in mouse peritoneal macrophages, and deletion of G2A impaired migration towards LPC [87,88]. TDAG8 (T cell deathassociated gene-8) was upregulated in glucocorticoid-treated lymphoma cell lines and primary thymocytes, and psychosine and glucopsychosine, but not S1P, SPC, LPA or LPC, enhanced glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis in a manner dependent on TDAG8 expression [89]. Other authors found that deletion of TDAG8 fully abrogated proton-induced cAMP formation in thymocytes, while deletion of G2A had no effect [81].

Taken together, the present data support the hypothesis that GPCRs of the OGR1 cluster can be regulated by both specific lipid agonists and protons. However, the precise molecular mechanisms, by which dual regulation of these receptors takes place, remain to be determined. G2A and TDAG8 appear to play a functional role in migration and apoptosis of immune cells, while OGR1 and GPR4 are wider expressed and for example contribute to osteoclastogenesis and angiogenesis, respectively. Mice in which G2A was genetically deleted were described in 2001, they suffered from a late-onset autoimmune syndrome that was attributed to insufficient T cell apoptosis [90]. Recently, it was reported that TDAG8 knockout mice are normal in appearance, size and mating, and their immune functions, including glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis of thymocytes, were not obviously impaired [91]. It was speculated that TDAG8 could be substituted by G2A in immune cells of TDAG8 knockout mice.

2.5. Interaction of LPA with peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ

GPCR independent, intracellular actions have been suggested primarily for S1P [92]. However, in 2003, an intracellular target for LPA was identified, which was the nuclear transcription factor, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ (PPAR γ) [93]. PPAR γ controls transcription of genes that are involved in glucose and fatty acid metabolism, adipocyte differentiation and inflammation processes in the vasculature, and is activated by the antidiabetic thiazolidinediones [94,95]. As endogenous ligands, anionic fatty acids and their oxidised derivatives have been described. LPA, but not phosphatidic acid, competed for binding of the thiazolidinedione, rosiglitazone, to PPAR γ , and stimulated expression of PPAR γ -controlled genes [93]. Furthermore, LPA-induced progressive formation of neointima in a rat carotid artery model was inhibited by a PPARy antagonist and mimicked by rosiglitazone [96]. The structure-activity relationship for neointima formation by LPA analogues in vivo was identical to that of PPAR γ activation in vitro and differed from that described for LPA-GPCRs. LPA 20:4 upregulated the CD36 scavenger receptor and caused dedifferentiation of cultured vascular smooth muscle cells that was prevented by PPAR γ

antagonist [96]. Extracellularly applied LPA was apparently able to enter the cells and reach the intracellular receptor. The interaction of LPA with PPAR γ was furthermore analysed in preadipocytes, which endogenously express high levels of that transcription factor [97]. Interestingly, LPA did not increase transcription of two PPAR γ -sensitive genes in a mouse preadipocyte cell line, but, in contrast, decreased PPAR γ 2 expression, inhibited the action of rosiglitazone on gene transcription, and reduced triglyceride accumulation. These anti-adipogenic actions were not observed in cells from LPA₁ knockout mice, indicating that LPA₁ can mediate downregulation of PPAR γ 2 [97]. These obvious differences to the previous studies were ascribed to high expression of ecto-lipid phosphate phosphatases activity in preadipocytes, preventing LPA to enter the cells in sufficient concentrations for PPAR γ activation [98].

3. Regulation of lysophospholipid availability at lysophospholipid receptors

3.1. S1P metabolism: kinases, phosphatases, lyase

The enzymes that generate and degrade S1P are evolutionary highly conserved among eukaryotes from yeast and plant to mammals [18,99]. S1P is formed by phosphorylation of sphingosine by sphingosine kinases, and dephosphorylated



Fig. 1. Regulation of S1P availability at G-protein-coupled S1P receptors by localized generation and metabolism of S1P. S1P is formed from sphingosine (SPH) by sphingosine kinases (SphK) and either dephosphorylated by lipid phosphate phosphatases (LPP) and S1P phosphatases (SPP), or irreversibly cleaved by S1P lyase (SPL). SphK1 is a cytosolic enzyme (A) that, upon cellular stimulation, can translocate to the plasma membrane (B) or to intracellular sites such as sites of phosphatidic acid (PA) production (C) [134, 228]. SphK2 is also cytosolic and was observed at the endoplasmic reticulum in serum-depleted cells (D) [124], but so far has not been found at the plasma membrane. Predominantly SphK2, but also SphK1, can be found in the nucleus (E). S1P, depending on the localization where it is generated, can act on so far unknown intracellular target sites, or it can be excreted, probably by one or more transport mechanisms (**@**) [157]. Extracellular S1P acting on S1P-GPCRs can thus be derived from auto- or paracrine secretion. In addition, it may be produced by extracellular SphK1 (F) [159]. Termination of extra- and intracellular S1P signals is caused by LPPs, SPPs and S1P lyase. LPPs are plasma membrane-bound enzymes with their catalytic activity directed to the extracellular space, regulating extracellular levels of LPA and S1P. LPPs, predominantly LPP2 and LPP3, can also be found at the endoplasmic reticulum or other intracellular membranes [134]. SPPs and S1P lyase are endoplasmic reticulum. Both SPPs and S1P lyase is directed towards the cytosol [141], while that of SPPs has been predicted to be directed towards the lumen of endoplasmic reticulum. Both SPPs and S1P lyase contribute to regulation of extracellular S1P elevels [129,132,161]. ①–④ Enzymes of the sphingomyelin pathway [102]: ① sphingomyelinase, ② ceramidase, ③ ceramidase, ④ sphingomyelin synthase. Further abbreviations used in the figure: SM, sphingomyelin; Cer, ceramide; DAG, diacylglycerol. For additional references, see text.

back to sphingosine by non-specific LPPs or specific S1P phosphatases (SPPs) (Fig. 1). S1P and sphingosine are in equilibrium with ceramide, which is a membrane-bound intracellular mediator with functional roles mostly opposite to S1P (Fig. 1). An irreversible cleavage of S1P is catalysed by S1P lyase. For review on sphingolipid metabolism in general and its subcellular localization, see [18,100–102].

Two mammalian isoforms of sphingosine kinase, SphK1 and SphK2, with molecular weights of 43 and 65 kDa, respectively, and a number of alternatively spliced isoforms of SphK1 and SphK2 that differ at their N-termini have been identified [103-108] (for review, see [109–111]). The two sphingosine kinase isoenzymes have distinct kinetic properties and are differentially expressed during development as well as in adult tissues, which indicates distinct biological functions. Indeed, SphK1 promotes cell growth in many cell types, is upregulated in tumour cells, protects from apoptosis, and has features of an oncogene [112-121], whereas SphK2 mediates apoptosis [108,122–124]. In contrast, mice deficient in either SphK1 or SphK2 are viable and fertile, while double knockout mice died during embryogenesis and had no measurable tissue levels of S1P, suggesting that the two sphingosine kinase isoenzymes can substitute for each other [125–128].

Particularly SphK1 contributes to extracellular S1P acting on S1P-GPCRs, and therefore regulation of this enzyme will be discussed in greater detail below.

The enzymes that dephosphorylate S1P and LPA belong to a superfamily of lipid phosphatases/phosphotransferases with a common structural motif and specialized functions, for review see [129–132]. LPP isoenzymes non-specifically dephosphorylate phosphatidic acid, LPA, ceramide-1-phosphate and S1P to generate diacylglycerol, monoacylglycerol, ceramide and sphingosine, respectively. Three mammalian LPP isoforms have been identified, termed LPP1, LPP2 and LPP3. In addition, there is a family of four LPP-related proteins, termed LPR or plasticity-related genes (PRG), the functions of which are not entirely clear. LPP1 and LPP3 are widely expressed while expression of LPP2 is more restricted [132]. LPPs are integral membrane proteins with six predicted transmembrane domains, localized to the plasma membrane, endoplasmic reticulum and other endomembranes [132]. Their catalytic centres face the extracellular side of the plasma membrane or the luminal side of organelles. Two functions have been attributed to these enzymes: (1) regulation of extracellular levels of lysophospholipids such as LPA and S1P by their ecto-phosphatase activity, and (2) degradation of intracellular phospholipid second messengers, e.g., phosphatidic acid, and thereby intracellular signal termination [132-134]. The two known SPPs are structurally related to LPPs, but hydropathy analysis suggests the presence of 8-10 transmembrane domains rather than 6 [135-138]. These enzymes have predicted molecular masses of 46 and 49 kDa, respectively, and broad and partially overlapping expression patterns [136–138]. Interestingly, SPPs are inhibited by detergents such as Triton X-100 and show a marked preference for substrates attached to protein carriers. Both SPP1 and SPP2 specifically dephosphorylate S1P and localize

to the endoplasmic reticulum, their catalytic site is predicted to face the luminal site of the endoplasmic reticulum [136– 138]. Cellular depletion of SPP1 by siRNA caused accumulation of S1P within the cells and also in the medium, indicating that SPP1 plays a role in regulating extracellular S1P levels [137].

S1P lyase is a pyridoxal-5'-phosphate-dependent enzyme of 63 kDa with one transmembrane domain close to its N-terminus [139,140]. The enzyme is located at the endoplasmic reticulum, and the pyridoxal-5'-phosphate binding domain as well as the catalytic site are exposed to the cytosol [141]. Expression of S1P lyase mRNA transcripts was widespread in mouse tissues, but did not always fully parallel enzyme activity. S1P lyase expression and activity was very low in mouse brain and, in agreement with previous reports, absent in platelets [141]. Obviously, S1P lyase contributes to the balance between proapoptotic ceramide and antiapoptotic S1P, since overexpression of the enzyme enhanced ceramide levels and caused ceramide-dependent apoptosis [142]. Accordingly, Drosophila lacking S1P lyase displayed increased apoptosis in developing embryos and diminished egg-laying [143]. Most interestingly, these flies had specific abnormalities in dorsal longitudinal flight muscles and a severe flight defect, which reveals the importance of S1P lyase in metazoan development [143]. Reports about the phenotype of S1P lyase deficient mice are awaited for the near future. Recent data demonstrate that S1P lyase influences extracellular S1P levels, contributing to the formation of S1P tissue gradients; this is reported in greater detail below.

3.2. Role of SphK1 in generating extracellular S1P: signalling inside-out

SphK activity is regulated both transcriptionally and posttranscriptionally by a large number of agonists, among them diverse GPCRs (e.g. muscarinic, formyl peptide, lysophospholipid, bradykinin), receptor tyrosine kinases (PDGF, EGF), cytokine and antigen receptors (for review, see [109,110,144]). However, SphK1 has a substantial basal activity, and posttranscriptional activation often leads to only moderate increases in its enzymatic activity (discussed in [111]). It is becoming increasingly clear that translocation to distinct subcellular regions is an important mechanism by which SphK1 is regulated [110,111,124] (Fig. 1). Artificial targeting of SphK1 to the endoplasmic reticulum or to the plasma membrane had a major impact on its function [124,145]. Phorbol ester, tumour necrosis factor-a, NGF or activation of muscarinic acetylcholine receptors induced a rapid translocation of SphK1 from the cytosol to the plasma membrane [146-149]. Several reports have shown that signalling via SphK1 can lead to S1P export and activation of S1P-GPCRs. For example, SphK1 overexpression in NIH 3T3 fibroblasts induced formation of stress fibres and focal adhesions, inhibited migration, stimulated proliferation and protected from apoptosis, and thus mimicked actions of extracellular S1P [150]. Accordingly, stress fibre formation induced by SphK1 overexpression required signalling via G_{12/13}, while proliferation and survival could not be

attributed to G-protein signalling [150]. Furthermore, NGF via its TrkA receptor induced translocation of SphK1 to the plasma membrane and internalization of S1P₁ and S1P₅ [149]. Knockdown of SphK1 by siRNA inhibited neurite extension induced by NGF in dorsal root ganglion cells, while extracellular S1P accelerated neurite extension by NGF in these cells, demonstrating the importance of S1P-GPCR cross-activation in this process [149]. SphK1 is known to be crucial for antigen receptor signalling in mast cells [151], and it was shown that the S1P₂ receptor was required for degranulation [152]. Furthermore, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) induced SphK1 translocation to the plasma membrane at the leading edge of migrating cells, and S1P₁ was required for PDGF-stimulated migration [153]. Although there are other examples for S1P signalling inside-out, there are also data demonstrating an interaction of S1P1 and PDGF receptors independently of autocrine S1P secretion. Even S1P1 mutants defective in S1P binding enhanced PDGF receptor signalling [154]. This crosstalk is considered to be based on a receptor signalling platform and sharing of G-protein subunits [155,156]. The mechanism by which S1P can be exported remains largely unknown, although the involvement of ABC transporters has been suggested at least in platelets [157]. On the other hand, SphK1 can also be found extracellularly, it was constitutively secreted by vascular endothelial cells and found in mouse and human plasma [158,159]. It should be noted that SphK1 in addition to signalling inside-out also plays an intracellular role, like SphK2, since it can be translocated to intracellular sites such as sites of phosphatidic acid production [134], has a nuclear export sequence that contributes to its cytosolic localization [160], and several of its effects are not imitated by exogenous S1P (e.g., [150]), see Fig. 1.

3.3. Role of S1P lyase in controlling extracellular S1P gradients

Recently, it was shown that S1P lyase plays an important role in maintaining a steep S1P concentration gradient between blood and tissues, which is required for lymphocyte trafficking [161] (commentary in [162]). The food colorant, 2-acetyl-4tetrahydroxybutylimidazole (THI), known for its immunosuppressive action, was shown to inhibit S1P lyase. In mice treated with THI, S1P levels in thymus, spleen and lymph nodes were greatly enhanced, while those in plasma, which under control conditions were higher than those in lymphoid tissues, were not much changed [161]. As a consequence, the $S1P_1$ receptor was internalized by interstitial fluid extracts from lymphoid tissue or lymph of THI-treated mice. In addition, S1P1 was downregulated by plasma, but not by lymphoid tissue extracts of control animals [161]. The S1P₁ receptor mediates lymphocyte egress and is internalized by the novel immunosuppressant, FTY720 (see below). S1P lyase inhibition by THI as well as siRNA downregulation of S1P lyase imitated this phenotype. A model has been developed in which S1P lyase contributes to the usually low S1P levels in lymphoid tissue, while the higher plasma levels of S1P act as a chemoattractant for emigration of lymphocytes [162]. Interestingly, FTY720, besides being a substrate for sphingosine kinases, inhibited S1P lyase in vitro and in vivo and slightly increased tissue S1P levels [163]. It was suggested that this activity of FTY720, besides downregulation of S1P₁ by phosphorylated FTY720, may contribute to its immunosuppressive action [163].

3.4. LPA metabolism: diverse pathways

There are several pathways that contribute to production of LPA. For generation of bioactive LPA acting on GPCR, three pathways, catalysed by extracellular enzymes, appear to play a role: (1) deacylation of phosphatidic acid by PLA_1 and PLA_2 , (2) cleavage of lysophospholipids by lyso-PLD, and (3) mild oxidation of low-density lipoproteins (for comprehensive review, see [164,165]). Secretory type-II PLA₂ and phosphatidic acid-selective PLA1 cleave surface-exposed phosphatidic acid, which for example occurs in microvesicles shed from activated inflammatory cells. The main source of extracellular LPA, however, appears to be lyso-PLD-catalysed cleavage of lysophospholipids such as LPC [166,167]. The lyso-PLD that generates LPA has recently been found to be identical with the cell motility-stimulating factor, autotaxin [168,169] (see below). Another possibility for LPA production is phosphorylation of monoacylglycerol. Recently, an acylglycerol kinase was described that had a diacylglycerol kinase catalytic domain but differed from the known diacylglycerol kinases, and phosphorylated monoacylglycerol (preferentially 1-oleoyl-glycerol, but also 2-arachidonyl-glycerol, an endocannabinoid) and diacylglycerol to form LPA and phosphatidic acid, respectively [170]. This enzyme was located at the mitochondria, and its overexpression promoted formation and secretion of LPA. However, data from autotaxin deficient mice illustrate the prevailing dominance of this enzyme in production of bioactive LPA, and therefore autotaxin is discussed in more detail below. Degradation of extracellular LPA can be attributed to the ectophosphatase activity of plasma membrane LPPs or acvlation by LPA acyl transferases [129–132] (Fig. 2).

3.5. Production of extracellular LPA by autotaxin

Autotaxin was originally isolated as an autocrine chemotactic factor from melanoma cells and was considered to be an ecto-nucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase (reviewed in [165]). Autotaxin occurs as a membrane-bound protein of \sim 125 kDa with a single transmembrane domain close to the cytosolic N-terminus, and as a soluble enzyme that is generated from the former by proteolytic processing and secreted from cells (Fig. 2). In 2002, it was demonstrated that autotaxin was the long-searched lyso-PLD in plasma and serum that cleaved LPC to form LPA [168,169]. The decisive contribution of autotaxin to LPA production in plasma was recently demonstrated by mice deficient in autotaxin [166,167]. Because homozygous autotaxin-deficient mice died early during embryogenesis, plasma levels of LPA were determined in heterozygous mice, and found to be half as high as in control mice [166,167]. In contrast, plasma S1P levels were not affected, demonstrating that the in vitro observed ability of autotaxin to



Fig. 2. Generation and degradation of bioactive LPA. In contrast to S1P, bioactive LPA seems not to be secreted, instead, it is formed extracellularly by diverse pathways (for review, see [164, 165]). LPA can be generated by deacylation of phosphatidic acid (PA), catalysed by phosphatidic acid-selective PLA₁ or secretory type-II PLA₂. For this, phosphatidic acid has to be transferred to the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane as it is the case in shed microvesicles. A major source of extracellular LPA is cleavage of lysophospholipids, predominantly LPC, by a lyso-PLD named autotaxin (ATX) [166–169]. This enzyme is generated as a membrane protein, further processed by proteolysis and secreted as a soluble protein. LPA is furthermore formed during de novo phospholipid synthesis at the endoplasmic reticulum by conjugation of phosphatidyl glycerol (PG) and acyl-CoA. Recently, an acylglycerol kinase expressed in mitochondria was described that phosphorylated monoacylglycerol (MAG) and diacylglycerol (DAG) and promoted LPA generation and secretion [170]. LPA is not only an agonist at G-protein-coupled receptors, but also activates the transcription factor, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ (PPAR γ) [93]. Degradation of LPA occurs by dephosphorylation, catalysed by lipid phosphate phosphatases (LPP), or by acylation, catalysed by LPA acyl transferases (LPAAT) [129–132,164]. For additional references, see text.

cleave SPC (although with a high $K_{\rm m}$) [171] indeed did not play a role in vivo. Mice with homozygous autotaxin deficiency died around embryonic day 10 with major vascular defects in yolk sac and embryo, and also had allantois malformation, neural tube defects and asymmetric headfolds [166,167]. This phenotype is much more severe than that of mice deficient in either LPA₁, LPA₂ or LPA₃ receptor [172-174]. LPA₁ deletion caused defects in craniofacial morphogenesis, brain development and olfaction, while LPA2 knockout did not lead to obvious defects. Mice deficient in LPA₃ were recently reported to be born with $\sim 50\%$ reduced litter sizes, which could be traced back to downregulation of cyclooxygenase-2 in LPA₃deficient uteri during preimplantation, leading to delayed implantation and altered positioning of embryos. However, the born mice were reported to be grossly normal [174]. In contrast, the severe phenotype of autotaxin deficiency demonstrates that this enzyme is decisive for LPA production during embryogenesis, thereby affecting the signalling of LPA in general [166]. Interestingly, autotaxin deficiency strongly resembled the phenotype of G_{13} knockout mice, showing the importance of this G-protein in signalling by LPA-GPCR [166]. Transcriptional regulation of autotaxin secretion was for example shown in adipocytes, in which autotaxin mRNA as well as autotaxin activity and LPA levels in culture supernatants were upregulated during differentiation [175]. Furthermore, autotaxin promoted the differentiation of preadipocytes and was substantially overexpressed in adipose tissue of obese diabetic (db/db) mice, but not in mice treated with high-fat diet or in mice with streptozotocin-induced diabetes [175,176]. However, autotaxin expression was downregulated by the insulinsensitizing drug, rosiglitazone, and, most importantly, significantly upregulated in patients exhibiting both insulin resistence

and impaired glucose tolerance. These data suggest that autotaxin might play a role in adipocyte insulin resistance, rather than in obesity or hyperglycaemia [176]. Autotaxin was furthermore found to be overexpressed in frontal cortex of patients with Alzheimer-type dementia [177], however, its function in dementia is currently unknown.

4. Emerging lysophospholipid pharmacology

Since the early days of testing compounds in which the glycerol backbone of LPA was replaced by serine, tyrosine or ethanolamine for interaction with LPA receptors, the area of lysophospholipid pharmacology has seen much progress and interesting developments. The search for lysophospholipid receptor subtype-selective drugs is supported by homology modelling that greatly enhanced our understanding on how GPCRs recognize lipid ligands [41,178-182]. In 2002, it was reported by two groups that the novel immunosuppressive, FTY720, interacts with S1P-GPCRs [50,51]. It is now known that FTY720 is phosphorylated by sphingosine kinase in vivo and then acts as an agonist with low nanomolar affinity on $S1P_1$, S1P₃, S1P₄ and S1P₅, but not S1P₂ receptors. Phosphorylation of FTY720 was required for its immunosuppressive action, since it did not cause lymphopenia in SphK2 deficient mice [126,128], while interestingly SphK1 was not required [125]. Furthermore, the immunosuppressive action of FTY720 was mimicked by FTY720-phosphonate which cannot be dephosphorylated [50]. This indicates that the additional effects of non-phosphorylated FTY720, such as inhibition of S1P lyase [163] and antagonism at cannabinoid CB1 receptors [183], which both require low micromolar concentrations of FTY720, have only little impact on its immunosuppressive action.

The S1P₁ receptor was identified as the major target mediating FTY720-induced lymphopenia, since in mice whose haematopoietic cells lack S1P₁, T and B lymphocytes were unable to exit lymphoid tissues [31]. FTY720 treatment downregulated S1P₁, thereby mimicking S1P₁ deficiency [31, 49]. Furthermore, also the $S1P_1$ selective agonist, SEW2871, inhibited lymphocyte recirculation in mice [37,184]. It is now clear that there is a S1P concentration gradient between plasma and extracellular fluid of lymphoid tissue that is created by differential actions of S1P lyase and sphingosine kinase, and that plasma S1P acts as a chemoattractant on lymphocytes in lymphoid tissues. The gradient is sensed by the S1P₁ receptor that mediates migration and is usually upregulated in lymphocytes within lymphoid tissue and downregulated in lymphocytes within blood [159,161,162,185]. Since FTY720 does not generally impair T- and B-cell proliferation and functions, it represents a novel mode of immunosuppressive action, which might be useful in transplantation as well as multiple sclerosis or autoimmune diabetes, leaving crucial functions of the immune system intact (reviewed in [21]). T lymphocytes furthermore contribute to ischemia-reperfusion injury, and FTY720 as well as SEW2871 reduced the damage caused by ischemia-reperfusion in liver and kidney [186-189]. Moreover, S1P₁ downregulation in other cell types may cause additional effects. Accordingly, FTY720 inhibited S1P- and vascular endothelial growth factor-induced angiogenesis, in which $S1P_1$ plays a role, and impeded primary and metastatic tumour growth in a murine model of melanoma [190].

Considering the molecular effect of FTY720-phosphate, and also that of SEW2871, it is obvious that $S1P_1$ activation is followed by downregulation, the latter being the clinically important effect. This could be interpreted as super-agonist activity of FTY720-phosphate and SEW2871. On the other hand, $S1P_1$ is obviously also downregulated in the high S1P level environment of plasma [161], suggesting that this receptor might be prone for up- and downregulation. Interestingly, the $S1P_1$ receptor has a high constitutive activity, and recently, an inverse agonist for $S1P_1$ has been described [154]. It is an intriguing question how this inverse agonist would affect lymphocyte trafficking. Interestingly, it was demonstrated very recently that a $S1P_1$ antagonist did not cause lymphopenia [191]. Obviously, there are still open questions with regard to regulation of lymphocyte trafficking by $S1P_1$.

Other actions of FTY720 correlate with activation but not downregulation of S1P-GPCRs. The undesired effect of bradycardia that is observed during the first days of FTY720 treatment is mediated by FTY720-phosphate's activation of S1P₃ [37]. In mouse aorta, FTY720 induced NO synthase activation and vasodilatation via S1P₃ [192]. Mimicking other effects of S1P on endothelial cells, FTY720 stimulated ERK and Akt, adherens junction assembly, survival and migration and reduced vascular permeability in vivo [193]. In contrast, the recently reported S1P₁ antagonist strongly enhanced capillary leakage in lung [191]. Regulation of the endothelial barrier function is of particular medicinal interest as its impairment plays a role in many pathological conditions.

SEW2871, the first compound highly specific for a S1P receptor subtype, was identified by high-throughput screening [37,184]. Interestingly, this compound lacks a phosphate group (for chemical structures, see [182]). Its EC₅₀ for stimulating GTP γ S binding by S1P₁ was ~13 nM, while that of S1P was \sim 0.4 nM. SEW2871 was a full agonist, stimulating Akt, ERK and cell migration. In vivo-application of SEW2871 induced lymphopenia in mice with a plasma EC_{50} of $\sim 2 \mu M$, but had no influence on heart rate, which is regulated by S1P₃ [37]. In ischemia-reperfusion damage in mouse kidney, a dose of 10 mg/kg SEW2871 was required for reduction of elevated plasma creatinine by \sim 70%; however, a nearly 50% reduction was already achieved with 0.1 mg/kg SEW2871. Nevertheless, FTY720 was much more potent [188]. A putative S1P₃ receptor antagonist, BML-241, was identified by searching a threedimensional compound database with a pharmacophore model of S1P [194], however, BML-241 is poorly characterized. A specific S1P₂ receptor antagonist, JTE-013, was used to prove the inhibitory action of $S1P_2$ on cell migration [33,195], and to show that S1P₂ mediates contraction of coronary artery smooth muscle cells [196].

Recently, a series of aryl amide compounds was presented which were more or less receptor subtype-selective; the lead compound, VPC23019, was a competitive antagonist at S1P₁ and S1P₃ [197]. K_i values for VPC23019 in radioligand binding assays at S1P₁ and S1P₃ were in the low nanomolar range, and VPC23019 inhibited S1P-induced migration and Ca²⁺ mobilization. Small structural changes converted the molecule into an agonist. Furthermore, VPC23019 as all compounds of this series behaved as agonist at S1P₄ and S1P₅, but had no activity at S1P₂ [197]. In mouse vascular endothelial cells expressing S1P₂ and S1P₃, but not S1P₁, VPC23019 inhibited S1P-stimulated Rac activation, migration and vascular tube formation, while JTE-013 enhanced these effects, indicating that S1P₂ and S1P₃ receptors have an opposing influence on these endothelial parameters [198]. For detailed discussion of ligand structure– activity relationships at S1P-GPCRs, see [182].

There are several compounds available that exhibit more or less selective antagonism at LPA-GPCRs. Dioctylglycerol pyrophosphate (DGPP 8:0) is a short-chain derivative of diacylglycerol pyrophosphate, which apparently is a signalling molecule in yeast and plants but not in higher animals (reviewed in [199]). It was demonstrated that DGPP 8:0 acts as a competitive antagonist at human LPA receptors, inhibiting preferentially LPA₃ (IC₅₀ \sim 100 nM), and also LPA₁ (IC₅₀ \sim 7 μ M), but not LPA₂ [180,200]. The preference of DGPP 8:0 for LPA₃ was recently confirmed [201]. Platelet activation induced by LPA, but not by other platelet stimuli, was inhibited by DGPP 8:0, but not by DGPP 18:0, in a competitive manner with an IC₅₀ of ~2.5 μ M [202]. Although platelets express LPA1, LPA2 and LPA3, the inhibitory action of DGPP implicates the involvement of LPA₃, and probably also LPA₁, in platelet shape change induced by LPA. DGPP 8:0 at 20 µM furthermore fully blocked platelet activation by mildly oxidated low density lipoproteins and by homogenates of lipid-rich core isolated from soft arteriosclerotic plaques, indicating that predominantly the LPA species, that were identified in this material, were involved in platelet activation by lipid-rich core [202].

A differential interaction with LPA-GPCRs was observed with fatty alcohol phosphates (FAP) with carbon chain lengths between 10 and 14 [203]. FAP-12 (dodecyl-FAP) activated LPA₂, thereby inducing $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ increases with an EC₅₀ of \sim 700 nM, while it antagonized LPA₃ in a competitive manner, inhibiting LPA-induced [Ca2+]i increases with an IC50 of ~90 nM. This compound was a weak antagonist at LPA₁ and did not interfere with S1P-GPCRs [203]. A compound rather non-selective for LPA receptor subtypes is Ki16425 (for structure, see [182], which was identified by high-throughput screening of 150,000 compounds for inhibition of LPA-induced $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ increases [201]. This compound inhibited LPAstimulated inositol phosphate production and GTPyS binding with K_i values of 0.2–0.9 μ M at LPA₁ and LPA₃, while its K_i values at LPA2 were around 6 µM [201]. Ki16425 did not affect responses to S1P, platelet-activating factor, bradykinin or platelet-derived growth factor, and therefore might be useful as general LPA-GPCR inhibitor. A similar preference for LPA₁ and LPA₃ was observed with VPC12249 [204]. O-methylphosphothionate (OMPT), a LPA₃-selective agonist [205], aggravated ischemia-reperfusion injury in mouse kidney, while the LPA_{1/3} antagonist, VPC12249, reduced tubular injury, ischemic necrosis in outer medulla, and leukocyte infiltration [206]. LPA itself inhibited renal injury at low concentrations, but aggravated the damage at higher concentrations, suggesting differential effects of LPA-GPCR subtypes in renal ischemia– reperfusion. The data observed with the inhibitors support the hypothesis that LPA₃ acts deleterious in this disease process [206]. For detailed discussion of structure–activity relationships of ligands at LPA-GPCRs, see [180,182]. Since most compounds that interact with LPA-GPCRs, except Ki16425, have a phosphate group that can be subject to dephosphorylation, a novel strategy focuses on metabolically stabilized LPA analogues such as phosphonates, phosphorothioates, phosphonothioates and fluorophosphonates [207]. These compounds affect LPA-GPCRs as well as LPA metabolizing enzymes [207].

Recently, a novel approach to pharmacological intervention at S1P-GPCRs, an anti-S1P antibody, was introduced [208] (commentary in [209]). Based on the concept that S1P promotes tumour proliferation, invasion and angiogenesis, the antibody was tested on transplanted mouse tumours. Proliferation of various tumour types, e.g., lung, breast, melanoma and ovarian cancers, was effectively retarded by the antibody. Furthermore, tumour-associated angiogenesis, plasma levels of interleukin-6, -8 and vascular endothelial growth factor, and the ability of S1P to protect tumour cells from apoptosis, was reduced by the anti-S1P antibody [208]. Other than sphingosine kinase inhibitors, which also successfully inhibit tumour cell growth [115,210], the anti-S1P antibody will attack S1P from all sources.

5. Concluding remarks

Research of the past decade has demonstrated that many important physiological and pathophysiological processes are regulated by lysophospholipids. As summarized in recent reviews, S1P and LPA play a role in the immune system [7,20,211–214], cardiovascular system [215–222], nervous system [223,224] and cancer [101,225]. G protein-coupled lysophospholipid receptors and the enzymes of lysophospholipid metabolism are therefore promising targets for medicinal interventions. Potential indications for drugs acting on lysophospholipid GPCRs have been suggested [8]. It remains a challenge to understand the complex interplay of lysophospholipid formation and degradation and receptor downregulation, recycling and cross-talk.

Acknowledgements

The work of the authors was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft and the Interne Forschungsförderung Essen.

References

- R.J. Lefkowitz, Historical review: a brief history and personal retrospective of seven-transmembrane receptors, Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 25 (2004) 413–422.
- [2] J. Chun, E.J. Goetzl, T. Hla, Y. Igarashi, K.R. Lynch, W.H. Moolenaar, S. Pyne, G. Tigyi, International Union of Pharmacology. XXXIV. Lysophospholipid receptor nomenclature, Pharmacol. Rev. 54 (2002) 265–269.
- [3] A.C. Howlett, A short guide to the nomenclature of seven-transmembrane spanning receptors for lipid mediators, Life Sci. 77 (2005) 1522–1530.

- [4] B. Anliker, J. Chun, Lysophospholipid G protein-coupled receptors, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 20555–20558.
- [5] B. Anliker, J. Chun, Cell surface receptors in lysophospholipid signaling, Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 15 (2004) 457–465.
- [6] I. Ishii, N. Fukushima, X. Ye, J. Chun, Lysophospholipid receptors: signaling and biology, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 73 (2004) 321–354.
- [7] H. Rosen, E.J. Goetzl, Sphingosine 1-phosphate and its receptors: an autocrine and paracrine network, Nat. Rev., Immunol. 5 (2005) 560–570.
- [8] S.E. Gardell, A.E. Dubin, J. Chun, Emerging medicinal roles for lysophospholipid signaling, Trends Mol. Med. 12 (2006) 65–75.
- [9] K. Uhlenbrock, H. Gassenhuber, E. Kostenis, Sphingosine 1-phosphate is a ligand of the human gpr3, gpr6 and gpr12 family of constitutively active G protein-coupled receptors, Cell. Signal. 14 (2002) 941–953.
- [10] K. Noguchi, S. Ishii, T. Shimizu, Identification of p2y9/GPR23 as a novel G protein-coupled receptor for lysophosphatidic acid, structurally distant from the EDG family, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 25600–25606.
- [11] C.W. Lee, R. Rivera, S. Gardell, A.E. Dubin, J. Chun, GPR92 as a new G_{12/13} and G_q coupled lysophosphatidic acid receptor that increases cAMP: LPA₅, J. Biol. Chem. (2006) M603670200.
- [12] Y. Xu, Sphingosylphosphorylcholine and lysophosphatidylcholine: G protein-coupled receptors and receptor-mediated signal transduction, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1582 (2002) 81–88.
- [13] D.S. Im, Two ligands for a GPCR, proton vs lysolipid, Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 26 (2005) 1435–1441.
- [14] H. Tomura, C. Mogi, K. Sato, F. Okajima, Proton-sensing and lysolipidsensitive G-protein-coupled receptors: a novel type of multi-functional receptors, Cell. Signal. 17 (2005) 1466–1476.
- [15] G. Tigyi, Physiological responses to lysophosphatidic acid and related glycero-phospholipids, Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediators 64 (2001) 47–62.
- [16] S. Spiegel, D. English, S. Milstien, Sphingosine 1-phosphate signaling: providing cells with a sense of direction, Trends Cell Biol. 12 (2002) 236–242.
- [17] G.B. Mills, W.H. Moolenaar, The emerging role of lysophosphatidic acid in cancer, Nat. Rev., Cancer 3 (2003) 582–591.
- [18] S. Spiegel, S. Milstien, Sphingosine-1-phosphate: an enigmatic signalling lipid, Nat. Rev., Mol. Cell Biol. 4 (2003) 397–407.
- [19] H. Rosen, Chemical approaches to the lysophospholipid receptors, Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediators 77 (2005) 179–184.
- [20] J. Chun, H. Rosen, Lysophospholipid receptors as potential drug targets in tissue transplantation and autoimmune diseases, Curr. Pharm. Des. 12 (2006) 161–171.
- [21] V. Brinkmann, J.G. Cyster, T. Hla, FTY720: sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor-1 in the control of lymphocyte egress and endothelial barrier function, Am. J. Transp. 4 (2004) 1019–1025.
- [22] J.H. Hecht, J.A. Weiner, S.R. Post, J. Chun, Ventricular zone gene-1 (vzg-1) encodes a lysophosphatidic acid receptor expressed in neurogenic regions of the developing cerebral cortex, J. Cell Biol. 135 (1996) 1071–1083.
- [23] T. Hla, T. Maciag, An abundant transcript induced in differentiating human endothelial cells encodes a polypeptide with structural similarities to G protein-coupled receptors, J. Biol. Chem. 265 (1990) 9308–9313.
- [24] M.-J. Lee, J.R. van Brocklyn, S. Thangada, C.H. Liu, A.R. Hand, R. Menzeleev, S. Spiegel, T. Hla, Sphingosine-1-phosphate as a ligand for the G protein-coupled receptor EDG-1, Science 279 (1998) 1552–1555.
- [25] H. Okamoto, Y. Takuwa, K. Gonda, H. Okazaki, K. Chang, Y. Yatomi, H. Shigematsu, EDG-1 is a functional sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor that is linked via a G_{i/o} to multiple signaling pathways, including phospholipase C activation, Ca²⁺ mobilization, ras-mitogen-activated protein kinase activation, and adenylate cyclase inhibition, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 27104–27110.
- [26] G.C.M. Zondag, F.R. Postma, I. van Etten, I. Verlaan, W.H. Moolenaar, Sphingosine-1-phosphate signalling through the G protein-coupled receptor EDG-1, Biochem. J. 330 (1998) 605–609.
- [27] J. Radeff-Huang, T.M. Seasholtz, R.G. Matteo, J.H. Brown, G protein mediated signaling pathways in lysophospholipid induced cell proliferation and survival, J. Cell. Biochem. 92 (2004) 949–966.

- [28] T. Sanchez, T. Hla, Structural and functional characteristics of S1P receptors, J. Cell. Biochem. 92 (2004) 913–922.
- [29] T.A. Taha, K.M. Argraves, L.M. Obeid, Sphingosine-1-phosphate receptors: receptor specificity versus functional redundancy, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1682 (2004) 48–55.
- [30] C.H. Liu, S. Thangada, M.-J. Lee, J.R. Van Brocklyn, S. Spiegel, T. Hla, Ligand-induced trafficking of the sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor EDG-1, Mol. Biol. Cell 10 (1999) 1179–1190.
- [31] M. Matloubian, C.G. Lo, G. Cinamon, M.J. Lesneski, Y. Xu, V. Brinkmann, M.L. Allende, R.L. Proia, J.G. Cyster, Lymphocyte egress from thymus and peripheral lymphoid organs is dependent on S1P receptor 1, Nature 427 (2004) 355–360.
- [32] N. Sugimoto, N. Takuwa, H. Okamoto, S. Sakurada, Y. Takuwa, Inhibitory and stimulatory regulation of Rac and cell motility by the G_{12/13} and G_i pathways integrated downstream of a single G proteincoupled sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor isoform, Mol. Cell. Biol. 23 (2003) 1534–1545.
- [33] K. Arikawa, N. Takuwa, H. Yamaguchi, N. Sugimoto, J. Kitayama, H. Nagawa, K. Takehara, Y. Takuwa, Ligand-dependent inhibition of B16 melanoma cell migration and invasion via endogenous S1P₂ G protein-coupled receptor. Requirement of inhibition of cellular Rac activity, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 32841–32851.
- [34] J.R. Nofer, M. van der Giet, M. Tölle, I. Wolinska, L.K. von Wnuck, H.A. Baba, U.J. Tietge, A. Gödecke, I. Ishii, B. Kleuser, M. Schäfers, M. Fobker, W. Zidek, G. Assmann, J. Chun, B. Levkau, HDL induces NOdependent vasorelaxation via the lysophospholipid receptor S1P₃, J. Clin. Invest. 113 (2004) 569–581.
- [35] H.M. Himmel, D. Meyer zu Heringdorf, E. Graf, D. Dobrev, A. Kortner, S. Schüler, K.H. Jakobs, U. Ravens, Evidence for EDG-3 receptormediated activation of I_{K.ACh} by sphingosine-1-phosphate in human atrial cardiomyocytes, Mol. Pharmacol. 58 (2000) 449–454.
- [36] M. Forrest, S.Y. Sun, R. Hajdu, J. Bergstrom, D. Card, G. Doherty, J. Hale, C. Keohane, C. Meyers, J. Milligan, S. Mills, N. Nomura, H. Rosen, M. Rosenbach, G.J. Shei, I.I. Singer, M. Tian, S. West, V. White, J. Xie, R.L. Proia, S. Mandala, Immune cell regulation and cardiovascular effects of sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor agonists in rodents are mediated via distinct receptor subtypes, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 309 (2004) 758–768.
- [37] M.G. Sanna, J. Liao, E. Jo, C. Alfonso, M.Y. Ahn, M.S. Peterson, B. Webb, S. Lefebvre, J. Chun, N. Gray, H. Rosen, Sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) receptor subtypes S1P₁ and S1P₃, respectively, regulate lymphocyte recirculation and heart rate, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 13839–13848.
- [38] I. Ishii, B. Friedman, X. Ye, S. Kawamura, C. McGiffert, J.J. Contos, M.A. Kingsbury, G. Zhang, J.H. Brown, J. Chun, Selective loss of sphingosine-1-phosphate signaling with no obvious phenotypic abnormality in mice lacking its G protein-coupled receptor, LP(B3)/EDG-3, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 33697–33704.
- [39] I. Ishii, X. Ye, B. Friedman, S. Kawamura, J.J. Contos, M.A. Kingsbury, A.H. Yang, G. Zhang, J.H. Brown, J. Chun, Marked perinatal lethality and cellular signaling deficits in mice null for the two sphingosine-1phosphate (S1P) receptors, S1P₂/LP(B2)/EDG-5 and S1P₃/LP(B3)/EDG-3, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 25152–25159.
- [40] M.H. Gräler, G. Bernhardt, M. Lipp, EDG-6, a novel G protein-coupled receptor related to receptors for bioactive lysophospholipids, is specifically expressed in lymphoid tissue, Genomics 53 (1998) 164–169.
- [41] Y. Inagaki, T.T. Pham, Y. Fujiwara, T. Kohno, D.A. Osborne, Y. Igarashi, G. Tigyi, A.L. Parrill, Sphingosine 1-phosphate analogue recognition and selectivity at S1P₄ within the endothelial differentiation gene family of receptors, Biochem. J. 389 (2005) 187–195.
- [42] M.R. Candelore, M.J. Wright, L.M. Tota, J. Milligan, G.J. Shei, J.D. Bergstrom, S.M. Mandala, Phytosphingosine-1-phosphate: a high affinity ligand for the S1P₄/EDG-6 receptor, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 297 (2002) 600–606.
- [43] J. Fossetta, G. Deno, W. Gonsiorek, X. Fan, B. Lavey, P. Das, C. Lunn, P.J. Zavodny, D. Lundell, R.W. Hipkin, Pharmacological characterization of human S1P₄ using a novel radioligand, [4,5-³H]-dihydrosphingosine-1-phosphate, Br. J. Pharmacol. 142 (2004) 851–860.

- [44] M.H. Gräler, R. Grosse, A. Kusch, E. Kremmer, T. Gudermann, M. Lipp, The sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor $S1P_4$ regulates cell shape and motility via coupling to G_i and $G_{12/13}$, J. Cell. Biochem. 89 (2003) 507–519.
- [45] J.R. van Brocklyn, M.H. Gräler, G. Bernhardt, J.P. Hobson, M. Lipp, S. Spiegel, Sphingosine-1-phosphate is a ligand for the G protein-coupled receptor EDG-6, Blood 95 (2000) 2624–2629.
- [46] Y. Yamazaki, J. Kon, K. Sato, H. Tomura, M. Sato, T. Yoneya, H. Okazaki, F. Okajima, H. Ohta, EDG-6 as a putative sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor coupling to Ca²⁺ signaling pathway, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 268 (2000) 583–589.
- [47] T. Kohno, H. Matsuyuki, Y. Inagaki, Y. Igarashi, Sphingosine 1phosphate promotes cell migration through the activation of Cdc42 in EDG-6/S1P₄-expressing cells, Genes Cells 8 (2003) 685–697.
- [48] W. Wang, M.H. Gräler, E.J. Goetzl, Type 4 sphingosine-1-phosphate G protein-coupled receptor (S1P₄) transduces S1P effects on T cell proliferation and cytokine secretion without signaling migration, FASEB J. 19 (2005) 1731–1733.
- [49] M.H. Gräler, E.J. Goetzl, The immunosuppressant FTY720 downregulates sphingosine-1-phosphate G-protein-coupled receptors, FASEB J. 18 (2004) 551–553.
- [50] S. Mandala, R. Hajdu, J. Bergstrom, E. Quackenbush, J. Xie, J. Milligan, R. Thornton, G.J. Shei, D. Card, C. Keohane, M. Rosenbach, J. Hale, C.L. Lynch, K. Rupprecht, W. Parsons, H. Rosen, Alteration of lymphocyte trafficking by sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor agonists, Science 296 (2002) 346–349.
- [51] V. Brinkmann, M.D. Davis, C.E. Heise, R. Albert, S. Cottens, R. Hof, C. Bruns, E. Prieschl, T. Baumruker, P. Hiestand, C.A. Foster, M. Zollinger, K.R. Lynch, The immune modulator FTY720 targets sphingosine-1-phosphate receptors, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 21453–21457.
- [52] M. Glickman, R.L. Malek, A.E. Kwitek-Black, H.J. Jacob, N.H. Lee, Molecular cloning, tissue-specific expression, and chromosomal localization of a novel nerve growth factor-regulated G-protein-coupled receptor, nrg-1, Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 14 (1999) 141–152.
- [53] R.L. Malek, R.E. Toman, L.C. Edsall, S. Wong, J. Chiu, C.A. Letterle, J.R. van Brocklyn, S. Milstien, S. Spiegel, N.H. Lee, Nrg-1 belongs to the endothelial differentiation gene family of G protein-coupled sphingosine-1-phosphate receptors, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 5692–5699.
- [54] D.-S. Im, C.E. Heise, N. Ancellin, B.F. O'Dowd, G. Shei, R.P. Heavens, M.R. Rigby, T. Hla, S. Mandala, G. McAllister, S.R. George, K.R. Lynch, Characterization of a novel sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor, EDG-8, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 14281–14286.
- [55] A. Niedernberg, A. Blaukat, T. Schöneberg, E. Kostenis, Regulated and constitutive activation of specific signalling pathways by the human S1P₅ receptor, Br. J. Pharmacol. 138 (2003) 481–493.
- [56] K. Terai, T. Soga, M. Takahashi, M. Kamohara, K. Ohno, S. Yatsugi, M. Okada, T. Yamaguchi, EDG-8 receptors are preferentially expressed in oligodendrocyte lineage cells of the rat CNS, Neuroscience 116 (2003) 1053–1062.
- [57] C. Jaillard, S. Harrison, B. Stankoff, M.S. Aigrot, A.R. Calver, G. Duddy, F.S. Walsh, M.N. Pangalos, N. Arimura, K. Kaibuchi, B. Zalc, C. Lubetzki, EDG-8/S1P₅: an oligodendroglial receptor with dual function on process retraction and cell survival, J. Neurosci. 25 (2005) 1459–1469.
- [58] N. Yu, K.D. Lariosa-Willingham, F.F. Lin, M. Webb, T.S. Rao, Characterization of lysophosphatidic acid and sphingosine-1-phosphate-mediated signal transduction in rat cortical oligodendrocytes, Glia 45 (2004) 17–27.
- [59] E. Kostenis, Novel clusters of receptors for sphingosine-1-phosphate, sphingosylphosphorylcholine, and (lyso)-phosphatidic acid: new receptors for "old" ligands, J. Cell. Biochem. 92 (2004) 923–936.
- [60] A. Ignatov, J. Lintzel, I. Hermans-Borgmeyer, H.J. Kreienkamp, P. Joost, S. Thomsen, A. Methner, H.C. Schaller, Role of the G-protein-coupled receptor GPR12 as high-affinity receptor for sphingosylphosphorylcholine and its expression and function in brain development, J. Neurosci. 23 (2003) 907–914.
- [61] A. Ignatov, J. Lintzel, H.J. Kreienkamp, H.C. Schaller, Sphingosine-1phosphate is a high-affinity ligand for the G protein-coupled receptor

GPR6 from mouse and induces intracellular Ca^{2+} release by activating the sphingosine-kinase pathway, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 311 (2003) 329–336.

- [62] K. Uhlenbrock, J. Huber, A. Ardati, A.E. Busch, E. Kostenis, Fluid shear stress differentially regulates gpr3, gpr6, and gpr12 expression in human umbilical vein endothelial cells, Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 13 (2003) 75–84.
- [63] L.M. Mehlmann, Y. Saeki, S. Tanaka, T.J. Brennan, A.V. Evsikov, F.L. Pendola, B.B. Knowles, J.J. Eppig, L.A. Jaffe, The G_s-linked receptor GPR3 maintains meiotic arrest in mammalian oocytes, Science 306 (2004) 1947–1950.
- [64] M. Hinckley, S. Vaccari, K. Horner, R. Chen, M. Conti, The G-proteincoupled receptors GPR3 and GPR12 are involved in cAMP signaling and maintenance of meiotic arrest in rodent oocytes, Dev. Biol. 287 (2005) 249–261.
- [65] L.M. Mehlmann, Stops and starts in mammalian oocytes: recent advances in understanding the regulation of meiotic arrest and oocyte maturation, Reproduction 130 (2005) 791–799.
- [66] C. Ledent, I. Demeestere, D. Blum, J. Petermans, T. Hamalainen, G. Smits, G. Vassart, Premature ovarian aging in mice deficient for Gpr3, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102 (2005) 8922–8926.
- [67] Y. Morita, G.I. Perez, F. Paris, S.R. Miranda, D. Ehleiter, A. Haimovitz-Friedman, Z. Fuks, Z. Xie, J.C. Reed, E.H. Schuchman, R.N. Kolesnick, J.L. Tilly, Oocyte apoptosis is suppressed by disruption of the acid sphingomyelinase gene or by sphingosine-1-phosphate therapy, Nat. Med. 6 (2000) 1109–1114.
- [68] S. Spiegel, R. Kolesnick, Sphingosine 1-phosphate as a therapeutic agent, Leukemia 16 (2002) 1596–1602.
- [69] Y. Xu, K. Zhu, G. Hong, W. Wu, L.M. Baudhuin, Y. Xiao, D.S. Damron, Sphingosylphosphorylcholine is a ligand for ovarian cancer G-proteincoupled receptor 1, Nat. Cell Biol. 2 (2000) 261–267.
- [70] K. Zhu, L.M. Baudhuin, G. Hong, F.S. Williams, K.L. Cristina, J.H. Kabarowski, O.N. Witte, Y. Xu, Sphingosylphosphorylcholine and lysophosphatidylcholine are ligands for the G protein-coupled receptor GPR4, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 41325–41335.
- [71] J.H. Kabarowski, K. Zhu, L.Q. Le, O.N. Witte, Y. Xu, Lysophosphatidylcholine as a ligand for the immunoregulatory receptor G2A, Science 293 (2001) 702–705.
- [72] D.S. Im, C.E. Heise, T. Nguyen, B.F. O'Dowd, K.R. Lynch, Identification of a molecular target of psychosine and its role in globoid cell formation, J. Cell Biol. 153 (2001) 429–434.
- [73] Retraction: sphingosylphosphorylcholine and lysophosphatidylcholine are ligands for the G protein-coupled receptor GPR4, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 43280.
- [74] O.N. Witte, J.H. Kabarowski, Y. Xu, L.Q. Le, K. Zhu, Retraction, Science 307 (2005) 206.
- [75] M. Bektas, L.S. Barak, P.S. Jolly, H. Liu, K.R. Lynch, E. Lacana, K.B. Suhr, S. Milstien, S. Spiegel, The G protein-coupled receptor GPR4 suppresses ERK activation in a ligand-independent manner, Biochemistry 42 (2003) 12181–12191.
- [76] M.G. Ludwig, M. Vanek, D. Guerini, J.A. Gasser, C.E. Jones, U. Junker, H. Hofstetter, R.M. Wolf, K. Seuwen, Proton-sensing G-protein-coupled receptors, Nature 425 (2003) 93–98.
- [77] C. Mogi, H. Tomura, M. Tobo, J.Q. Wang, A. Damirin, J. Kon, M. Komachi, K. Hashimoto, K. Sato, F. Okajima, Sphingosylphosphorylcholine antagonizes proton-sensing ovarian cancer G-protein-coupled receptor 1 (OGR1)-mediated inositol phosphate production and cAMP accumulation, J. Pharmacol. Sci. 99 (2005) 160–167.
- [78] N. Murakami, T. Yokomizo, T. Okuno, T. Shimizu, G2A is a protonsensing G-protein-coupled receptor antagonized by lysophosphatidylcholine, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 42484–42491.
- [79] J.Q. Wang, J. Kon, C. Mogi, M. Tobo, A. Damirin, K. Sato, M. Komachi, E. Malchinkhuu, N. Murata, T. Kimura, A. Kuwabara, K. Wakamatsu, H. Koizumi, T. Uede, G. Tsujimoto, H. Kurose, T. Sato, A. Harada, N. Misawa, H. Tomura, F. Okajima, TDAG8 is a proton-sensing and psychosine-sensitive G-protein-coupled receptor, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 45626–45633.
- [80] S. Ishii, Y. Kihara, T. Shimizu, Identification of T cell death-associated

gene 8 (TDAG8) as a novel acid sensing G-protein-coupled receptor, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 9083–9087.

- [81] C.G. Radu, A. Nijagal, J. McLaughlin, L. Wang, O.N. Witte, Differential proton sensitivity of related G protein-coupled receptors T cell deathassociated gene 8 and G2A expressed in immune cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102 (2005) 1632–1637.
- [82] K.S. Kim, J. Ren, Y. Jiang, Q. Ebrahem, R. Tipps, K. Cristina, Y.J. Xiao, J. Qiao, K.L. Taylor, H. Lum, B. Anand-Apte, Y. Xu, GPR4 plays a critical role in endothelial cell function and mediates the effects of sphingosylphosphorylcholine, FASEB J. 19 (2005) 819–821.
- [83] J. Qiao, F. Huang, R.P. Naikawadi, K.S. Kim, T. Said, H. Lum, Lysophosphatidylcholine impairs endothelial barrier function through the G protein-coupled receptor GPR4, Am. J. Physiol., Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 291 (2006) L91–L101.
- [84] H. Tomura, J.Q. Wang, M. Komachi, A. Damirin, C. Mogi, M. Tobo, J. Kon, N. Misawa, K. Sato, F. Okajima, Prostaglandin I₂ production and cAMP accumulation in response to acidic extracellular pH through OGR1 in human aortic smooth muscle cells, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 34458–34464.
- [85] L. Wang, C.G. Radu, L.V. Yang, L.A. Bentolila, M. Riedinger, O.N. Witte, Lysophosphatidylcholine-induced surface redistribution regulates signaling of the murine G protein-coupled receptor G2A, Mol. Biol. Cell 16 (2005) 2234–2247.
- [86] M. Yang, G. Mailhot, M.J. Birnbaum, C.A. Mackay, A. Mason-Savas, P.R. Odgren, Expression of and role for ovarian cancer G-protein coupled receptor 1 (OGR1) during osteoclastogenesis, J. Biol. Chem. (2006) M602191200.
- [87] C.G. Radu, L.V. Yang, M. Riedinger, M. Au, O.N. Witte, T cell chemotaxis to lysophosphatidylcholine through the G2A receptor, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101 (2004) 245–250.
- [88] L.V. Yang, C.G. Radu, L. Wang, M. Riedinger, O.N. Witte, G_iindependent macrophage chemotaxis to lysophosphatidylcholine via the immunoregulatory GPCR G2A, Blood 105 (2005) 1127–1134.
- [89] M.H. Malone, Z. Wang, C.W. Distelhorst, The glucocorticoid-induced gene tdag8 encodes a pro-apoptotic G protein-coupled receptor whose activation promotes glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 52850–52859.
- [90] L.Q. Le, J.H. Kabarowski, Z. Weng, A.B. Satterthwaite, E.T. Harvill, E.R. Jensen, J.F. Miller, O.N. Witte, Mice lacking the orphan G proteincoupled receptor G2A develop a late-onset autoimmune syndrome, Immunity 14 (2001) 561–571.
- [91] C.G. Radu, D. Cheng, A. Nijagal, M. Riedinger, J. McLaughlin, L.V. Yang, J. Johnson, O.N. Witte, Normal immune development and glucocorticoid-induced thymocyte apoptosis in mice deficient for the Tcell death-associated gene 8 receptor, Mol. Cell. Biol. 26 (2006) 668–677.
- [92] S. Spiegel, S. Milstien, Sphingosine-1-phosphate: signaling inside and out, FEBS Lett. 476 (2000) 55–57.
- [93] T.M. McIntyre, A.V. Pontsler, A.R. Silva, A. St Hilaire, Y. Xu, J.C. Hinshaw, G.A. Zimmerman, K. Hama, J. Aoki, H. Arai, G.D. Prestwich, Identification of an intracellular receptor for lysophosphatidic acid (LPA): LPA is a transcellular PPARγ agonist, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100 (2003) 131–136.
- [94] H. Yki-Jarvinen, Thiazolidinediones, N. Engl. J. Med. 351 (2004) 1106–1118.
- [95] C.H. Lee, P. Olson, R.M. Evans, Minireview: lipid metabolism, metabolic diseases, and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors, Endocrinology 144 (2003) 2201–2207.
- [96] C. Zhang, D.L. Baker, S. Yasuda, N. Makarova, L. Balazs, L.R. Johnson, G.K. Marathe, T.M. McIntyre, Y. Xu, G.D. Prestwich, H.S. Byun, R. Bittman, G. Tigyi, Lysophosphatidic acid induces neointima formation through PPARγ activation, J. Exp. Med. 199 (2004) 763–774.
- [97] M.F. Simon, D. Daviaud, J.P. Pradere, S. Gres, C. Guigne, M. Wabitsch, J. Chun, P. Valet, J.S. Saulnier-Blache, Lysophosphatidic acid inhibits adipocyte differentiation via lysophosphatidic acid 1 receptor-dependent down-regulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ2, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 14656–14662.
- [98] M.F. Simon, A. Rey, I. Castan-Laurel, S. Gres, D. Sibrac, P. Valet, J.S. Saulnier-Blache, Expression of ectolipid phosphate phosphohydrolases

in 3T3F442A preadipocytes and adipocytes. Involvement in the control of lysophosphatidic acid production, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 23131–23136.

- [99] J.D. Saba, T. Hla, Point-counterpoint of sphingosine-1-phosphate metabolism, Circ. Res. 94 (2004) 724–734.
- [100] Y.A. Hannun, C. Luberto, K.M. Argraves, Enzymes of sphingolipid metabolism: from modular to integrative signaling, Biochemistry 40 (2001) 4893–4903.
- [101] B. Ogretmen, Y.A. Hannun, Biologically active sphingolipids in cancer pathogenesis and treatment, Nat. Rev., Cancer 4 (2004) 604–616.
- [102] A.H. Futerman, H. Riezman, The ins and outs of sphingolipid synthesis, Trends Cell Biol. 15 (2005) 312–318.
- [103] T. Kohama, A. Olivera, L. Edsall, M.M. Nagiec, R. Dickson, S. Spiegel, Molecular cloning and functional characterization of murine sphingosine kinase, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 23722–23728.
- [104] H. Liu, M. Sugiura, V.E. Nava, L.C. Edsall, K. Kono, S. Poulton, S. Milstien, T. Kohama, S. Spiegel, Molecular cloning and functional characterization of a novel mammalian sphingosine kinase type 2 isoform, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 19513–19520.
- [105] A.J. Melendez, E. Carlos-Dias, M. Gosink, J.M. Allen, L. Takacs, Human sphingosine kinase: molecular cloning, functional characterization and tissue distribution, Gene 251 (2000) 19–26.
- [106] S.M. Pitson, R.J. D'Andrea, L. Vandeleur, P.A.B. Moretti, P. Xia, J.R. Gamble, Human sphingosine kinase: purification, molecular cloning and characterization of the native and recombinant enzymes, Biochem. J. 350 (2000) 429–441.
- [107] A. Billich, F. Bornancin, P. Devay, D. Mechtcheriakova, N. Urtz, T. Baumruker, Phosphorylation of the imunomodulatory drug FTY720 by sphingosine kinases, J. Biol. Chem. (2003).
- [108] T. Okada, G. Ding, H. Sonoda, T. Kajimoto, Y. Haga, A. Khosrowbeygi, S. Gao, N. Miwa, S. Jahangeer, S. Nakamura, Involvement of Nterminal-extended form of sphingosine kinase-2 in serum-dependent regulation of cell proliferation and apoptosis, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 36318–36325.
- [109] A. Olivera, S. Spiegel, Sphingosine kinase: a mediator of vital cellular functions, Prostaglandins 64 (2001) 123–134.
- [110] T.A. Taha, Y.A. Hannun, L.M. Obeid, Sphingosine kinase: biochemical and cellular regulation and role in disease, J. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 39 (2006) 113–131.
- [111] B.W. Wattenberg, S.M. Pitson, D.M. Raben, The sphingosine and diacylglycerol kinase superfamily of signaling kinases: localization as a key to signaling function, J. Lipid Res. 47 (2006) 1128–1139.
- [112] A. Olivera, T. Kohama, L. Edsall, V. Nava, O. Cuvillier, S. Poulton, S. Spiegel, Sphingosine kinase expression increases intracellular sphingosine-1-phosphate and promotes cell growth and survival, J. Cell Biol. 147 (1999) 545–558.
- [113] P. Xia, J.R. Gamble, L. Wang, S.M. Pitson, P.A.B. Moretti, B.W. Wattenberg, R.J. D'Andrea, M.A. Vadas, An oncogenic role of sphingosine kinase, Curr. Biol. 10 (2000) 1527–1530.
- [114] L.C. Edsall, O. Cuvillier, S. Twitty, S. Spiegel, S. Milstien, Sphingosine kinase expression regulates apoptosis and caspase activation in PC12 cells, J. Neurochem. 76 (2001) 1573–1584.
- [115] K.J. French, R.S. Schrecengost, B.D. Lee, Y. Zhuang, S.N. Smith, J.L. Eberly, J.K. Yun, C.D. Smith, Discovery and evaluation of inhibitors of human sphingosine kinase, Cancer Res. 63 (2003) 5962–5969.
- [116] M. Bektas, P.S. Jolly, C. Müller, J. Eberle, S. Spiegel, C.C. Geilen, Sphingosine kinase activity counteracts ceramide-mediated cell death in human melanoma cells: role of Bcl-2 expression, Oncogene 24 (2005) 178–187.
- [117] F. Doll, J. Pfeilschifter, A. Huwiler, The epidermal growth factor stimulates sphingosine kinase-1 expression and activity in the human mammary carcinoma cell line MCF7, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1738 (2005) 72–81.
- [118] H.S. Saini, R.P. Coelho, S.K. Goparaju, P.S. Jolly, M. Maceyka, S. Spiegel, C. Sato-Bigbee, Novel role of sphingosine kinase-1 as a mediator of neurotrophin-3 action in oligodendrocyte progenitors, J. Neurochem. 95 (2005) 1298–1310.

- [119] D. Pchejetski, M. Golzio, E. Bonhoure, C. Calvet, N. Doumerc, V. Garcia, C. Mazerolles, P. Rischmann, J. Teissie, B. Malavaud, O. Cuvillier, Sphingosine kinase-1 as a chemotherapy sensor in prostate adenocarcinoma cell and mouse models, Cancer Res. 65 (2005) 11667–11675.
- [120] E. Bonhoure, D. Pchejetski, N. Aouali, H. Morjani, T. Levade, T. Kohama, O. Cuvillier, Overcoming MDR-associated chemoresistance in HL-60 acute myeloid leukemia cells by targeting sphingosine kinase-1, Leukemia 20 (2006) 95–102.
- [121] T. Kawamori, W. Osta, K.R. Johnson, B.J. Pettus, J. Bielawski, T. Tanaka, M.J. Wargovich, B.S. Reddy, Y.A. Hannun, L.M. Obeid, D. Zhou, Sphingosine kinase-1 is up-regulated in colon carcinogenesis, FASEB J. 20 (2006) 386–388.
- [122] N. Igarashi, T. Okada, S. Hayashi, T. Fujita, S. Jahangeer, S. Nakamura, Sphingosine kinase-2 is a nuclear protein and inhibits DNA synthesis, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 46832–46839.
- [123] H. Liu, R.E. Toman, S. Goparaju, M. Maceyka, V.E. Nava, H. Sankala, S.G. Payne, M. Bektas, I. Ishii, J. Chun, S. Milstien, S. Spiegel, Sphingosine kinase type-2 is a putative BH3-Only protein that induces apoptosis, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 40330–40336.
- [124] M. Maceyka, H. Sankala, N.C. Hait, H. Le Stunff, H. Liu, R. Toman, C. Collier, M. Zhang, L.S. Satin, A.H. Merrill Jr., S. Milstien, S. Spiegel, SphK1 and SphK2, sphingosine kinase isoenzymes with opposing functions in sphingolipid metabolism, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 37118–37129.
- [125] M.L. Allende, T. Sasaki, H. Kawai, A. Olivera, Y. Mi, G. Echten-Deckert, R. Hajdu, M. Rosenbach, C.A. Keohane, S. Mandala, S. Spiegel, R.L. Proia, Mice deficient in sphingosine kinase-1 are rendered lymphopenic by FTY720, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 52487–52492.
- [126] Y. Kharel, S. Lee, A.H. Snyder, S.L. Sheasley-O'Neill, M.A. Morris, Y. Setiady, R. Zhu, M.A. Zigler, T.L. Burcin, K. Ley, K.S. Tung, V.H. Engelhard, T.L. Macdonald, S. Pearson-White, K.R. Lynch, Sphingosine kinase-2 is required for modulation of lymphocyte traffic by FTY720, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 36865–36872.
- [127] K. Mizugishi, T. Yamashita, A. Olivera, G.F. Miller, S. Spiegel, R.L. Proia, Essential role for sphingosine kinases in neural and vascular development, Mol. Cell. Biol. 25 (2005) 11113–11121.
- [128] B. Zemann, B. Kinzel, M. Müller, R. Reuschel, D. Mechtcheriakova, N. Urtz, F. Bornancin, T. Baumruker, A. Billich, Sphingosine kinase type-2 is essential for lymphopenia induced by the immunomodulatory drug FTY720, Blood 107 (2006) 1454–1458.
- [129] D.N. Brindley, Lipid phosphate phosphatases and related proteins: signaling functions in development, cell division, and cancer, J. Cell. Biochem. 92 (2004) 900–912.
- [130] S. Pyne, K.C. Kong, P.I. Darroch, Lysophosphatidic acid and sphingosine-1-phosphate biology: the role of lipid phosphate phosphatases, Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 15 (2004) 491–501.
- [131] S. Pyne, J.S. Long, N.T. Ktistakis, N.J. Pyne, Lipid phosphate phosphatases and lipid phosphate signalling, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 33 (2005) 1370–1374.
- [132] Y.J. Sigal, M.I. McDermott, A.J. Morris, Integral membrane lipid phosphatases/phosphotransferases: common structure and diverse functions, Biochem. J. 387 (2005) 281–293.
- [133] F. Alderton, P. Darroch, B. Sambi, A. McKie, I.S. Ahmed, N. Pyne, S. Pyne, G-protein-coupled receptor stimulation of the p42/p44 mitogenactivated protein kinase pathway is attenuated by lipid phosphate phosphatases 1, 1a, and 2 in human embryonic kidney 293 cells, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 13452–13460.
- [134] J. Long, P. Darroch, K.F. Wan, K.C. Kong, N. Ktistakis, N.J. Pyne, S. Pyne, Regulation of cell survival by lipid phosphate phosphatases involves the modulation of intracellular phosphatidic acid and sphingosine-1-phosphate pools, Biochem. J. 391 (2005) 25–32.
- [135] S.M. Mandala, R. Thornton, I. Galve-Roperh, S. Poulton, C. Peterson, A. Olivera, J. Bergstrom, M.B. Kurtz, S. Spiegel, Molecular cloning and characterization of a lipid phosphohydrolase that degrades sphingosine-1-phosphate and induces cell death, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97 (2000) 7859–7864.
- [136] H. Le Stunff, C. Peterson, R. Thornton, S. Milstien, S.M. Mandala, S. Spiegel, Characterization of murine sphingosine-1-phosphate phosphohydrolase, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 8920–8927.

- [137] K.R. Johnson, K.Y. Johnson, K.P. Becker, J. Bielawski, C. Mao, L.M. Obeid, Role of human sphingosine-1-phosphate phosphatase 1 in the regulation of intra- and extracellular sphingosine-1-phosphate levels and cell viability, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 34541–34547.
- [138] C. Ogawa, A. Kihara, M. Gokoh, Y. Igarashi, Identification and characterization of a novel human sphingosine-1-phosphate phosphohydrolase, hSPP2, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 1268–1272.
- [139] J. Zhou, J.D. Saba, Identification of the first mammalian sphingosine phosphate lyase gene and its functional expression in yeast, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 242 (1998) 502–507.
- [140] P.P. van Veldhoven, S. Gijsbers, G.P. Mannaerts, J.R. Vermeesch, V. Brys, Human sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase: cDNA cloning, functional expression studies and mapping to chromosome 10q22, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1487 (2000) 128–134.
- [141] M. Ikeda, A. Kihara, Y. Igarashi, Sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase SPL is an endoplasmic reticulum-resident, integral membrane protein with the pyridoxal 5'-phosphate binding domain exposed to the cytosol, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 325 (2004) 338–343.
- [142] U. Reiss, B. Oskouian, J. Zhou, V. Gupta, P. Sooriyakumaran, S. Kelly, E. Wang, A.H. Merrill Jr., J.D. Saba, Sphingosine-phosphate lyase enhances stress-induced ceramide generation and apoptosis, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 1281–1290.
- [143] D.R. Herr, H. Fyrst, V. Phan, K. Heinecke, R. Georges, G.L. Harris, J.D. Saba, Sply regulation of sphingolipid signaling molecules is essential for Drosophila development, Development 130 (2003) 2443–2453.
- [144] D. Meyer zu Heringdorf, Lysophospholipid receptor-dependent and -independent calcium signaling, J. Cell. Biochem. 92 (2004) 937–948.
- [145] F. Safadi-Chamberlain, L.P. Wang, S.G. Payne, C.U. Lim, S. Stratford, J.A. Chavez, M.H. Fox, S. Spiegel, S.A. Summers, Effect of a membranetargeted sphingosine kinase-1 on cell proliferation and survival, Biochem. J. 388 (2005) 827–834.
- [146] K.R. Johnson, K.P. Becker, M.M. Facchinetti, Y.A. Hannun, L.M. Obeid, PKC-dependent activation of sphingosine kinase-1 and translocation to the plasma membrane. Extracellular release of sphingosine-1-phosphate induced by phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA), J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 35257–35262.
- [147] S.M. Pitson, P.A. Moretti, J.R. Zebol, H.E. Lynn, P. Xia, M.A. Vadas, B.W. Wattenberg, Activation of sphingosine kinase-1 by ERK1/2mediated phosphorylation, EMBO J. 22 (2003) 5491–5500.
- [148] K.W. Young, J.M. Willets, M.J. Parkinson, P. Bartlett, S. Spiegel, S.R. Nahorski, R.A. Challiss, Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent translocation of sphingosine kinase: role in plasma membrane relocation but not activation, Cell Calcium 33 (2003) 119–128.
- [149] R.E. Toman, S.G. Payne, K.R. Watterson, M. Maceyka, N.H. Lee, S. Milstien, J.W. Bigbee, S. Spiegel, Differential transactivation of sphingosine-1-phosphate receptors modulates NGF-induced neurite extension, J. Cell Biol. 166 (2004) 381–392.
- [150] A. Olivera, H.M. Rosenfeldt, M. Bektas, F. Wang, I. Ishii, J. Chun, S. Milstien, S. Spiegel, Sphingosine kinase type 1 Induces G_{12/13}-mediated stress fiber formation yet promotes growth and survival independent of G protein coupled receptors, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 46452–46460.
- [151] A.J. Melendez, F.B. Ibrahim, Antisense knockdown of sphingosine kinase 1 in human macrophages inhibits C5a receptor-dependent signal transduction, Ca²⁺ signals, enzyme release, cytokine production, and chemotaxis, J. Immunol. 173 (2004) 1596–1603.
- [152] P.S. Jolly, M. Bektas, K.R. Watterson, H. Sankala, S.G. Payne, S. Milstien, S. Spiegel, Expression of SphK1 impairs degranulation and motility of RBL-2H3 mast cells by desensitizing S1P receptors, Blood 105 (2005) 4736–4742.
- [153] J.P. Hobson, H.M. Rosenfeldt, L.S. Barak, A. Olivera, S. Poulton, M.G. Caron, S. Milstien, S. Spiegel, Role of the sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor EDG-1 in PDGF-induced cell motility, Science 291 (2001) 1800–1803.
- [154] C.M. Waters, J. Long, I. Gorshkova, Y. Fujiwara, M. Connell, K.E. Belmonte, G. Tigyi, V. Natarajan, S. Pyne, N.J. Pyne, Cell migration activated by platelet-derived growth factor receptor is blocked by an inverse agonist of the sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor-1, FASEB J. 20 (2006) 509–511.

- [155] C.M. Waters, B. Sambi, K.C. Kong, D. Thompson, S.M. Pitson, S. Pyne, N.J. Pyne, Sphingosine 1-phosphate and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) act via PDGFβ receptor-sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor complexes in airway smooth muscle cells, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 6282–6290.
- [156] C.M. Waters, M.C. Connell, S. Pyne, N.J. Pyne, c-Src is involved in regulating signal transmission from PDGFβ receptor-GPCR(s) complexes in mammalian cells, Cell. Signal. 17 (2005) 263–277.
- [157] N. Kobayashi, T. Nishi, T. Hirata, A. Kihara, T. Sano, Y. Igarashi, A. Yamaguchi, Sphingosine 1-phosphate is released from the cytosol of rat platelets in a carrier-mediated manner, J. Lipid Res. 47 (2006) 614–621.
- [158] N. Ancellin, C. Colmont, J. Su, Q. Li, N. Mittereder, S.S. Chae, S. Stefansson, G. Liau, T. Hla, Extracellular export of sphingosine kinase-1 enzyme. Sphingosine 1-phosphate generation and the induction of angiogenic vascular maturation, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 6667–6675.
- [159] K. Venkataraman, S. Thangada, J. Michaud, M.L. Oo, Y. Ai, Y.M. Lee, M. Wu, N.S. Parikh, F. Khan, R.L. Proia, T. Hla, Extracellular export of sphingosine kinase-1a contributes to the vascular S1P gradient, Biochem. J. 397 (2006) 461–471.
- [160] Y. Inagaki, P.Y. Li, A. Wada, S. Mitsutake, Y. Igarashi, Identification of functional nuclear export sequences in human sphingosine kinase 1, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 311 (2003) 168–173.
- [161] S.R. Schwab, J.P. Pereira, M. Matloubian, Y. Xu, Y. Huang, J.G. Cyster, Lymphocyte sequestration through S1P lyase inhibition and disruption of S1P gradients, Science 309 (2005) 1735–1739.
- [162] T. Hla, Immunology. Dietary factors and immunological consequences, Science 309 (2005) 1682–1683.
- [163] P. Bandhuvula, Y.Y. Tam, B. Oskouian, J.D. Saba, The immune modulator FTY720 inhibits sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase activity, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 33697–33700.
- [164] G. Tigyi, A.L. Parrill, Molecular mechanisms of lysophosphatidic acid action, Prog. Lipid Res. 42 (2003) 498–526.
- [165] W.H. Moolenaar, L.A. van Meeteren, B.N. Giepmans, The ins and outs of lysophosphatidic acid signaling, Bioessays 26 (2004) 870–881.
- [166] L.A. van Meeteren, P. Ruurs, C. Stortelers, P. Bouwman, M.A. van Rooijen, J.P. Pradere, T.R. Pettit, M.J. Wakelam, J.S. Saulnier-Blache, C.L. Mummery, W.H. Moolenaar, J. Jonkers, Autotaxin, a secreted lysophospholipase D, is essential for blood vessel formation during development, Mol. Cell. Biol. 26 (2006) 5015–5022.
- [167] M. Tanaka, S. Okudaira, Y. Kishi, R. Ohkawa, S. Iseki, M. Ota, S. Noji, Y. Yatomi, J. Aoki, H. Arai, Autotaxin stabilizes blood vessels and is required for embryonic vasculature by producing lysophosphatidic acid, J. Biol. Chem. (2006) M605142200.
- [168] A. Tokumura, E. Majima, Y. Kariya, K. Tominaga, K. Kogure, K. Yasuda, K. Fukuzawa, Identification of human plasma lysophospholipase D, a lysophosphatidic acid-producing enzyme, as autotaxin, a multifunctional phosphodiesterase, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 39436–39442.
- [169] M. Umezu-Goto, Y. Kishi, A. Taira, K. Hama, N. Dohmae, K. Takio, T. Yamori, G.B. Mills, K. Inoue, J. Aoki, H. Arai, Autotaxin has lysophospholipase D activity leading to tumor cell growth and motility by lysophosphatidic acid production, J. Cell Biol. 158 (2002) 227–233.
- [170] M. Bektas, S.G. Payne, H. Liu, S. Goparaju, S. Milstien, S. Spiegel, A novel acylglycerol kinase that produces lysophosphatidic acid modulates cross talk with EGFR in prostate cancer cells, J. Cell Biol. 169 (2005) 801–811.
- [171] T. Clair, J. Aoki, E. Koh, R.W. Bandle, S.W. Nam, M.M. Ptaszynska, G.B. Mills, E. Schiffmann, L.A. Liotta, M.L. Stracke, Autotaxin hydrolyzes sphingosylphosphorylcholine to produce the regulator of migration, sphingosine-1-phosphate, Cancer Res. 63 (2003) 5446–5453.
- [172] J.J. Contos, N. Fukushima, J.A. Weiner, D. Kaushal, J. Chun, Requirement for the lpA1 lysophosphatidic acid receptor gene in normal suckling behavior, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97 (2000) 13384–13389.
- [173] J.J. Contos, I. Ishii, N. Fukushima, M.A. Kingsbury, X. Ye, S. Kawamura, J.H. Brown, J. Chun, Characterization of lpa(2) (EDG-4) and lpa(1)/lpa
 (2) (EDG-2/EDG-4) lysophosphatidic acid receptor knockout mice: signaling deficits without obvious phenotypic abnormality attributable to lpa(2), Mol. Cell. Biol. 22 (2002) 6921–6929.

- [174] X. Ye, K. Hama, J.J. Contos, B. Anliker, A. Inoue, M.K. Skinner, H. Suzuki, T. Amano, G. Kennedy, H. Arai, J. Aoki, J. Chun, LPA₃-mediated lysophosphatidic acid signalling in embryo implantation and spacing, Nature 435 (2005) 104–108.
- [175] G. Ferry, E. Tellier, A. Try, S. Gres, I. Naime, M.F. Simon, M. Rodriguez, J. Boucher, I. Tack, S. Gesta, P. Chomarat, M. Dieu, M. Raes, J.P. Galizzi, P. Valet, J.A. Boutin, J.S. Saulnier-Blache, Autotaxin is released from adipocytes, catalyzes lysophosphatidic acid synthesis, and activates preadipocyte proliferation. Up-regulated expression with adipocyte differentiation and obesity, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 18162–18169.
- [176] J. Boucher, D. Quilliot, J.P. Praderes, M.F. Simon, S. Gres, C. Guigne, D. Prevot, G. Ferry, J.A. Boutin, C. Carpene, P. Valet, J.S. Saulnier-Blache, Potential involvement of adipocyte insulin resistance in obesityassociated up-regulation of adipocyte lysophospholipase D/autotaxin expression, Diabetologia 48 (2005) 569–577.
- [177] K. Umemura, N. Yamashita, X. Yu, K. Arima, T. Asada, T. Makifuchi, S. Murayama, Y. Saito, K. Kanamaru, Y. Goto, S. Kohsaka, I. Kanazawa, H. Kimura, Autotaxin expression is enhanced in frontal cortex of Alzheimer-type dementia patients, Neurosci. Lett. 400 (2006) 97–100.
- [178] A.L. Parrill, D. Wang, D.L. Bautista, J.R. Van Brocklyn, Z. Lorincz, D.J. Fischer, D.L. Baker, K. Liliom, S. Spiegel, G. Tigyi, Identification of EDG-1 receptor residues that recognize sphingosine-1-phosphate, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 39379–39384.
- [179] D.A. Wang, Z. Lorincz, D.L. Bautista, K. Liliom, G. Tigyi, A.L. Parrill, A single amino acid determines lysophospholipid specificity of the S1P₁ (EDG-1) and LPA₁ (EDG-2) phospholipid growth factor receptors, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 49213–49220.
- [180] V.M. Sardar, D.L. Bautista, D.J. Fischer, K. Yokoyama, N. Nusser, T. Virag, d.A. Wang, D.L. Baker, G. Tigyi, A.L. Parrill, Molecular basis for lysophosphatidic acid receptor antagonist selectivity, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1582 (2002) 309–317.
- [181] G. Holdsworth, D.A. Osborne, T.T. Pham, J.I. Fells, G. Hutchinson, G. Milligan, A.L. Parrill, A single amino acid determines preference between phospholipids and reveals length restriction for activation of the S1P₄ receptor, BMC Biochem. 5 (2004) 12, doi:10.1186/1471-2091-5-12.
- [182] A.L. Parrill, V.M. Sardar, H. Yuan, Sphingosine 1-phosphate and lysophosphatidic acid receptors: agonist and antagonist binding and progress toward development of receptor-specific ligands, Semin, Cell Dev. Biol. 15 (2004) 467–476.
- [183] S.W. Paugh, M.P. Cassidy, H. He, S. Milstien, L.J. Sim-Selley, S. Spiegel, D.E. Selley, Sphingosine and its analog, the immunosuppressant 2amino-2-(2-[4-octylphenyl]ethyl)-1,3-propanediol, interact with the CB1 cannabinoid receptor, Mol. Pharmacol. 70 (2006) 41–50.
- [184] E. Jo, M.G. Sanna, P.J. Gonzalez-Cabrera, S. Thangada, G. Tigyi, D.A. Osborne, T. Hla, A.L. Parrill, H. Rosen, S1P₁-selective in vivo-active agonists from high-throughput screening: off-the-shelf chemical probes of receptor interactions, signaling, and fate, Chem. Biol. 12 (2005) 703–715.
- [185] C.G. Lo, Y. Xu, R.L. Proia, J.G. Cyster, Cyclical modulation of sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor-1 surface expression during lymphocyte recirculation and relationship to lymphoid organ transit, J. Exp. Med. 201 (2005) 291–301.
- [186] D.M. Anselmo, F.F. Amersi, X.D. Shen, F. Gao, M. Katori, C. Lassman, B. Ke, A.J. Coito, J. Ma, V. Brinkmann, R.W. Busuttil, J.W. Kupiec-Weglinski, D.G. Farmer, FTY720 pretreatment reduces warm hepatic ischemia reperfusion injury through inhibition of T-lymphocyte infiltration, Am. J. Transp. 2 (2002) 843–849.
- [187] P. Troncoso, A.M. Ortiz, J. Dominguez, B.D. Kahan, Use of FTY720 and ICAM-1 antisense oligonucleotides for attenuating chronic renal damage secondary to ischemia–reperfusion injury, Transp. Proc. 37 (2005) 4284–4288.
- [188] A.S. Awad, H. Ye, L. Huang, L. Li, F.W. Foss Jr., T.L. Macdonald, K.R. Lynch, M.D. Okusada, Selective sphingosine-1-phosphate-1 receptor activation reduces ischemia-reperfusion injury in mouse kidney, Am. J. Physiol.: Renal, Physiol. 290 (2006) F1516–F1524.
- [189] Y.H. Lien, K.C. Yong, C. Cho, S. Igarashi, L.W. Lai, S1P₁-selective agonist, SEW2871, ameliorates ischemic acute renal failure, Kidney Int. 69 (2006) 1601–1608.

- [190] K. LaMontagne, A. Littlewood-Evans, C. Schnell, T. O'Reilly, L. Wyder, T. Sanchez, B. Probst, J. Butler, A. Wood, G. Liau, E. Billy, A. Theuer, T. Hla, J. Wood, Antagonism of sphingosine-1-phosphate receptors by FTY720 inhibits angiogenesis and tumor vascularization, Cancer Res. 66 (2006) 221–231.
- [191] M.G. Sanna, S.K. Wang, P.J. Gonzalez-Cabrera, A. Don, D. Marsolais, M.P. Matheu, S.H. Wei, I. Parker, E. Jo, W.C. Cheng, M.D. Cahalan, C.H. Wong, H. Rosen, Enhancement of capillary leakage and restoration of lymphocyte egress by a chiral S1P₁ antagonist in vivo, Nat. Chem. Biol. 2 (2006) 434–441.
- [192] M. Tölle, B. Levkau, P. Keul, V. Brinkmann, G. Giebing, G. Schonfelder, M. Schäfers, L.K. von Wnuck, J. Jankowski, V. Jankowski, J. Chun, W. Zidek, M. van der Giet, Immunomodulator FTY720 Induces eNOSdependent arterial vasodilatation via the lysophospholipid receptor S1P₃, Circ. Res. 96 (2005) 913–920.
- [193] T. Sanchez, T. Estrada-Hernandez, J.H. Paik, M.T. Wu, K. Venkataraman, V. Brinkmann, K. Claffey, T. Hla, Phosphorylation and action of the immunomodulator FTY720 inhibits vascular endothelial cell growth factor-induced vascular permeability, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 47281–47290.
- [194] Y. Koide, T. Hasegawa, A. Takahashi, A. Endo, N. Mochizuki, M. Nakagawa, A. Nishida, Development of novel EDG-3 antagonists using a 3D database search and their structure–activity relationships, J. Med. Chem. 45 (2002) 4629–4638.
- [195] M. Osada, Y. Yatomi, T. Ohmori, H. Ikeda, Y. Ozaki, Enhancement of sphingosine-1-phosphate-induced migration of vascular endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells by an EDG-5 antagonist, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 299 (2002) 483–487.
- [196] T. Ohmori, Y. Yatomi, M. Osada, F. Kazama, T. Takafuta, H. Ikeda, Y. Ozaki, Sphingosine 1-phosphate induces contraction of coronary artery smooth muscle cells via S1P₂, Cardiovasc. Res. 58 (2003) 170–177.
- [197] M.D. Davis, J.J. Clemens, T.L. Macdonald, K.R. Lynch, Sphingosine 1phosphate analogs as receptor antagonists, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 9833–9841.
- [198] I. Inoki, N. Takuwa, N. Sugimoto, K. Yoshioka, S. Takata, S. Kaneko, Y. Takuwa, Negative regulation of endothelial morphogenesis and angiogenesis by S1P₂ receptor, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 346 (2006) 293–300.
- [199] B. van Schooten, C. Testerink, T. Munnik, Signalling diacylglycerol pyrophosphate, a new phosphatidic acid metabolite, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1761 (2006) 151–159.
- [200] D.J. Fischer, N. Nusser, T. Virag, K. Yokoyama, D. Wang, D.L. Baker, D. Bautista, A.L. Parrill, G. Tigyi, Short-chain phosphatidates are subtype-selective antagonists of lysophosphatidic acid receptors, Mol. Pharmacol. 60 (2001) 776–784.
- [201] H. Ohta, K. Sato, N. Murata, A. Damirin, E. Malchinkhuu, J. Kon, T. Kimura, M. Tobo, Y. Yamazaki, T. Watanabe, M. Yagi, M. Sato, R. Suzuki, H. Murooka, T. Sakai, T. Nishitoba, D.S. Im, H. Nochi, K. Tamoto, H. Tomura, F. Okajima, Ki16425, a subtype-selective antagonist for EDG-family lysophosphatidic acid receptors, Mol. Pharmacol. 64 (2003) 994–1005.
- [202] E. Rother, R. Brandl, D.L. Baker, P. Goyal, H. Gebhard, G. Tigyi, W. Siess, Subtype-selective antagonists of lysophosphatidic acid receptors inhibit platelet activation triggered by the lipid core of atherosclerotic plaques, Circulation 108 (2003) 741–747.
- [203] T. Virag, D.B. Elrod, K. Liliom, V.M. Sardar, A.L. Parrill, K. Yokoyama, G. Durgam, W. Deng, D.D. Miller, G. Tigyi, Fatty alcohol phosphates are subtype-selective agonists and antagonists of lysophosphatidic acid receptors, Mol. Pharmacol. 63 (2003) 1032–1042.
- [204] C.E. Heise, W.L. Santos, A.M. Schreihofer, B.H. Heasley, Y.V. Mukhin, T.L. Macdonald, K.R. Lynch, Activity of 2-substituted lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) analogs at LPA receptors: discovery of a LPA₁/LPA₃ receptor antagonist, Mol. Pharmacol. 60 (2001) 1173–1180.
- [205] Y. Hasegawa, J.R. Erickson, G.J. Goddard, S. Yu, S. Liu, K.W. Cheng, A. Eder, K. Bandoh, J. Aoki, R. Jarosz, A.D. Schrier, K.R. Lynch, G.B.

Mills, X. Fang, Identification of a phosphothionate analogue of lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) as a selective agonist of the LPA₃ receptor, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 11962–11969.

- [206] M.D. Okusa, H. Ye, L. Huang, L. Sigismund, T. Macdonald, K.R. Lynch, Selective blockade of lysophosphatidic acid LPA₃ receptors reduces murine renal ischemia–reperfusion injury, Am. J. Physiol.: Renal, Physiol. 285 (2003) F565–F574.
- [207] G.D. Prestwich, Y. Xu, L. Qian, J. Gajewiak, G. Jiang, New metabolically stabilized analogues of lysophosphatidic acid: agonists, antagonists and enzyme inhibitors, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 33 (2005) 1357–1361.
- [208] B. Visentin, J.A. Vekich, B.J. Sibbald, A.L. Cavalli, K.M. Moreno, R.G. Matteo, W.A. Garland, Y. Lu, S. Yu, H.S. Hall, V. Kundra, G.B. Mills, R.A. Sabbadini, Validation of an anti-sphingosine-1-phosphate antibody as a potential therapeutic in reducing growth, invasion, and angiogenesis in multiple tumor lineages, Cancer Cell 9 (2006) 225–238.
- [209] S. Milstien, S. Spiegel, Targeting sphingosine-1-phosphate: a novel avenue for cancer therapeutics, Cancer Cell 9 (2006) 148–150.
- [210] K.J. French, J.J. Upson, S.N. Keller, Y. Zhuang, J.K. Yun, C.D. Smith, Antitumor activity of sphingosine kinase inhibitors, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 318 (2006) 596–603.
- [211] E.J. Goetzl, H. Rosen, Regulation of immunity by lysosphingolipids and their G protein-coupled receptors, J. Clin. Invest. 114 (2004) 1531–1537.
- [212] T.H. Kee, P. Vit, A.J. Melendez, Sphingosine kinase signalling in immune cells, Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol. 32 (2005) 153–161.
- [213] A. Olivera, J. Rivera, Sphingolipids and the balancing of immune cell function: lessons from the mast cell, J. Immunol. 174 (2005) 1153–1158.
- [214] D.A. Lin, J.A. Boyce, Lysophospholipids as mediators of immunity, Adv. Immunol. 89 (2006) 141–167.
- [215] A.E. Alewijnse, S.L. Peters, M.C. Michel, Cardiovascular effects of sphingosine-1-phosphate and other sphingomyelin metabolites, Br. J. Pharmacol. 143 (2004) 666–684.
- [216] W. Siess, G. Tigyi, Thrombogenic and atherogenic activities of lysophosphatidic acid, J. Cell. Biochem. 92 (2004) 1086–1094.
- [217] C. Waeber, N. Blondeau, S. Salomone, Vascular sphingosine-1-phosphate S1P₁ and S1P₃ receptors, Drug News Perspect. 17 (2004) 365–382.
- [218] J.R. Nofer, G. Assmann, Atheroprotective effects of high-density lipoprotein-associated lysosphingolipids, Trends Cardiovasc. Med. 15 (2005) 265–271.
- [219] B.J. McVerry, J.G. Garcia, In vitro and in vivo modulation of vascular barrier integrity by sphingosine-1-phosphate: mechanistic insights, Cell. Signal. 17 (2005) 131–139.
- [220] K.R. Watterson, P.H. Ratz, S. Spiegel, The role of sphingosine-1phosphate in smooth muscle contraction, Cell. Signal. 17 (2005) 289–298.
- [221] V. Brinkmann, T. Baumruker, Pulmonary and vascular pharmacology of sphingosine-1-phosphate, Curr. Opin. Pharmacol. 6 (2006) 244–250.
- [222] Y. Yatomi, Sphingosine 1-phosphate in vascular biology: possible therapeutic strategies to control vascular diseases, Curr. Pharm. Des. 12 (2006) 575–587.
- [223] R.E. Toman, S. Spiegel, Lysophospholipid receptors in the nervous system, Neurochem. Res. 27 (2002) 619–627.
- [224] J. Chun, Lysophospholipids in the nervous system, Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediators 77 (2005) 46–51.
- [225] J.M. Padron, Sphingolipids in anticancer therapy, Curr. Med. Chem. 13 (2006) 755–770.
- [226] G. Tigyi, Selective ligands for lysophosphatidic acid receptor subtypes: gaining control over the endothelial differentiation gene family, Mol. Pharmacol. 60 (2001) 1161–1164.
- [227] W.C. Sin, Y. Zhang, W. Zhong, S. Adhikarakunnathu, S. Powers, T. Hoey, S. An, J. Yang, G protein-coupled receptors GPR4 and TDAG8 are oncogenic and overexpressed in human cancers, Oncogene 23 (2004) 6299–6303.
- [228] C. Delon, M. Manifava, E. Wood, D. Thompson, S. Krugmann, S. Pyne, N.T. Ktistakis, Sphingosine kinase-1 is an intracellular effector of phosphatidic acid, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 44763–44774.